
 
 

WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE 

 
MEETING TO BE HELD AT 2.00 PM ON WEDNESDAY, 7 OCTOBER 

2020 AS A REMOTE MEETING – TO BE LIVESTREAMED HERE: 
HTTPS://WWW.YOUTUBE.COM/CHANNEL/UCAZJNSGPQZZT41VIBN2

ZK9A/LIVE 

 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

 

3.  3. EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE EXCLUSION OF THE 
PRESS AND PUBLIC 

1. To highlight Appendices 1 to 4  to Agenda Item 6 which officers have 
identified as containing exempt information within the meaning of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, and where officers 
consider that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information, for the reasons outlined 
in the report. 

 
2. To consider whether or not to accept the officers’ recommendation in 

respect of the above information as set out in paragraph 4.1 of Agenda 
Item 6. 

 
3. If the recommendation is accepted, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
RESOLVED – That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
to the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of Appendices 1 to 4 to Agenda Item 6 on the grounds 
that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the 
nature of the proceedings, that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information and for the 
reasons set out in the report that in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

 



4.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE AND 
YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE HELD ON 1 SEPTEMBER 

 (Pages 1 - 14) 
 

5.  CAPITAL SPENDING AND PROJECT APPROVALS 

 (Pages 15 - 98) 
 

6.  ESIF SUD 

 (Pages 99 - 112) 
 

 

 

Signed: 

 
Managing Director 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 



 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

HELD ON TUESDAY, 1 SEPTEMBER 2020 AT REMOTE MEETING - TO 
BE LIVESTREAMED HERE: 

HTTPS://WWW.YOUTUBE.COM/WATCH?V=WGK3XVIQKMQE (COPY 
AND PASTE INTO YOUR BROWSER) 

 
 
Present: 
 
Roger Marsh OBE DL (Deputy Chair) Leeds City Region Enterprise 

Partnership 
Councillor Alex Ross-Shaw Bradford Council 
Councillor Jane Scullion Calderdale Council 
Councillor Darren Byford Wakefield Council 
 
In attendance: 
 
Councillor Kim Groves Leeds City Council 
Angela Taylor West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Dave Haskins West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Elizabeth Courtney West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Fiona Limb West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Jacqui Warren West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
James Bennett West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Jacquie Boulton West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Andrew Bradley West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Adam Kendall Ward West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Rebecca Greenwood West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Ben Kearns West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
 
7. Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Jeffery, Councillor Pryor, 
Councillor McBride and Councillor Waller.  
 

8. Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
Councillor Scullion declared that she was a member of the Yorkshire and 
Humberside Regional Flooding and Coastal Committee.   
 

9. Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 

1

Agenda Item 4



There were no items which required the exemption of the press or public.  
 

10. Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment 
Committee held on 11 August 
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting of the West Yorkshire and York 
Investment Committee be approved.  
 

11. Capital Programme Update 
 
The Committee considered a report which provided an update on the progress 
made on the implementation of the Combined Authority’s capital programme.  
 
Members noted the two new funding programmes: The Getting Building Fund 
and the Brownfield Housing Fund. It was that the Combined Authority will now 
receive 100% of the final outstanding payment of the Growth Deal funding 
following a successful review of the programme. 
 

Resolved: That the progress made in implementing the Combined Authority 
Capital Programmes be noted. 

 
 
 

12. Getting Building Fund 
 

The Committee considered report which put forward proposals for the funding 
of projects that have been approved for funding by Government through the 
Getting Building Fund.  

Members noted that the proportion allocated to the north of England was 
substantial and the case had been made to Government that the allocation 
should be used as a baseline for future funding. 

Members discussed the importance of capacity across the authorities to 
deliver the projects.   

Resolved:  That the Investment Committee recommended to the Combined 
Authority that: 

(i) The Getting Building Fund programme proceeds through decision 
point 2 (strategic business case). 

(ii) Each project commences work on activity 4 (full business case) or 
where relevant a change request is brought forward where the 
project is an extension to an existing Combined Authority project / 
programme. 

(iii) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of 
up to £52.60 million to be funded through the Getting Building 
Fund is given, with full approval to spend being granted once each 

2



of the projects has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).  

(iv) Programme development costs of up to £1 million (2%) and 
project development costs of £2.63 million (5%) are approved in 
order to progress the projects to decision point 4 (full business 
case) and  allocation of these development costs to the individual 
projects is delegated to the Director of Delivery. 

(v) The Combined Authority enter into funding agreements with 
Bradford Council, Calderdale Council, Kirklees Council, Leeds 
Council and Wakefield Council and other partners, including Canal 
and River Trust, as necessary for expenditure of up to £2.63 
million collectively from the Getting Building Fund (the allocation 
per project / partner council to be delegated to the Director of 
Delivery). 

(vi) The assurance tolerances: 

 Any programme cost increase remains within 2% as set out in 
this report and re allocation of funding between the projects is 
delegated to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director. 

 Delivery timescales remain within those set out in this report. 

(vii) Future approvals are made by the Investment Committee at 
decision point 4 and through a delegation to the Combined 
Authority’s Managing Director at decision point 5 following a 
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme 
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining 
within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
13. Capital Spending and Project Approvals 

 
The Committee considered a report which set out proposals for the 
progression of, and funding for, a number of West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority supported projects, including West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 
(Transport Fund) and Local Growth Fund, for consideration by the Investment 
Committee at stages 1, 2 and 3 of the Combined Authority’s assurance 
process.  
 
Members discussed the proposals for the progression of the following 
schemes which were detailed in the submitted report: 
 

 CIP Phase 2 Programme 

 Brownfield Housing Fund Programme 

 Active and Sustainable Travel across Bradford City Centre 

 Connecting employment and skills centres in Dewsbury 

 South Bradford Bus Park & Ride and Expressway 

 Network Navigation - West Yorkshire 

 Transforming access to Bradford Interchange from employment areas - 

3



Bradford Interchange Station Access 

 Transforming Access to Brighouse and Elland Railway Stations 

 Transforming bus and active travel opportunities between Dewsbury 
and Bradford (A638) 

 West Bradford - Cycle Superhighway 

 A660 Headingley Hills 

 Enterprise Zone – Langthwaite 

 Halifax, Walking Cycling and Bus Transformation Package - Halifax Bus 
Station 

 A61 North 

 Real Time Bus Information 

 Additional Approval – Growing Places Fund 
 
An item of correspondence had been received from the A660 joint council 
relating to concerns raised from a consultation in 2018 regarding the scheme. 
It was reported that concerns had been taken on board through the design 
process and more work was underway on the designs and further 
engagement and consultation would follow.  

 
The Committee was also advised of the following decisions made through 
delegations to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director since the last 
meeting: 
 

 Network Navigation (Leeds) 

 Superfast West Yorkshire and York – Contract 3 

 Corn Exchange City Centre Gateway 

 Transforming Cities Fund Early Gateways – Dewsbury Rail Station 
Access 

 Bradford Strategic Transport Model 

 CIP A62 Smart Corridor 

1.2 That in respect of the CIP Phase 2 Programme the Investment 
Committee recommended to the Combined Authority that:  

(i) The CIP Phase 2 Programme proceeds through decision point 2 
(strategic outline case) and work commences on individual 
schemes to activity 3 (outline business case). 

(ii) An indicative approval to the total programme value of £47.35 
million is given from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund with 
full approval to spend being granted once the schemes have 
progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full 
business case with finalised costs). 

(iii) Approval to development costs of £4 million from the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund of which £3 million to fund business 
case development costs in order to progress schemes within CIP 
Phase 2 to decision point 3 (outline business case) and £1 million 
to be allocated to support programme resilience and contingency. 

(iv) The Combined Authority enters into a funding agreement with: 

4



Kirklees council for expenditure up to £600,000; Calderdale 
council for expenditure up to £600,000; Bradford council for 
expenditure up to £670,000; Wakefield council for expenditure up 
to £1.13 million; all from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 

(i) That in respect of the Brownfield Housing Fund Programme the 
Investment Committee recommended to the Combined Authority that:  

(a) The Brownfield Housing Fund programme proceeds through 
decision point 2 (strategic outline case) and work commences on 
activity 3 (outline business case) and activity 4 (full business case) 
for individual schemes coming through the programme. 

(b) An indicative approval to the total scheme value of £66.779 million 
is given from the Brownfield Housing Fund with full approval to 
spend being granted once individual schemes have progressed 
through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business 
case with finalised costs). 

(c) Development costs of £5 million from the Brownfield Housing 
Fund are approved in order to develop and manage the 
programme and design and develop individual schemes to the 
next decision point. 

(d) Delegation of allocation of development costs and to enter into 
funding and legal agreements with Bradford, Kirklees, Wakefield, 
Calderdale and Leeds Councils and associated development 
activity as outlined in this report to a total combined value of £5 
million from the Brownfield Housing Fund, is given to the 
Combined Authority’s Director of Delivery to enable programme 
development and individual projects to progress to the next 
decision point. 

(e) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at the 
next decision point through delegation to the Investment 
Committee and at decision point 5 through a delegation to the 
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a 
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme 
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining 
within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(ii) That in respect of the Active and Sustainable Travel in Bradford City 
Centre the Investment Committee recommended to the Combined 
Authority that:  

(a) The Active and Sustainable Travel in Bradford City Centre 
package project proceeds through decision point 2 (strategic 
outline case) and work commences on activity 3 (outline business 
case). 

(b) An indicative approval to the total package value up to £30 million 
is given from the Transforming Cities Fund with full approval to 

5



spend once the package has progressed through the assurance 
process to decision point 5. 

(c) Development costs of £1.67 million is recommended for approval 
to complete Outline Business Case development. This will bring 
the total project approval to £2.15 million. 

(d) Enter into an amended funding agreement with Bradford Council 
for development costs of £1.67 million from Transforming Cities 
Fund, taking the total project approval to £2.15 million. 

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
package remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(iii) That in respect of the Connecting Employment and Skills Centre in 
Dewsbury the Investment Committee recommended to the Combined 
Authority that:  

(a) The Connecting Employment and Skills Centres in Dewsbury/ 
Active and Sustainable Travel in Dewsbury package project 
proceeds through decision point 2 and work commences on 
activity 3 (outline business case) for the Dewsbury Bus Station 
Replacement and Dewsbury town centre pedestrian and cycle 
improvement projects. 

(b) An indicative approval to the total package value of £16 million is 
given from the Transforming Cities Fund with full approval to 
spend once the package has progressed through the assurance 
process to decision point 5. 

(c) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Portfolio Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
package remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(iv) That in respect of the South Bradford Bus Park and Ride and 
Expressway the Investment Committee recommended to the Combined 
Authority that:  

(a) The South Bradford Bus Park and Ride and Expressway project 
proceeds through decision point 2 (strategic outline case) and 
work commences on activity 3 (outline business case). 

(vi) An indicative approval to the total package value of £20 million is 
given from the Transforming Cities Fund with full approval to 
spend once the package has progressed through the assurance 

6



process to decision point 5. 

(vii) £335,000 of development costs have been approved to date for 
this scheme and a further £1.02 million development funding is 
recommended for approval from the Transforming Cities Fund are 
requested to take the scheme to decision point 3 (outline business 
case) bringing the total funding approved to £1.36 million 

(viii) The Combined Authority enters into an amended funding 
agreement with Bradford Council for this scheme up to £1.02 
million from the Transforming Cities Fund bringing the total 
scheme approval to £1.34 million 

(ix) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
package remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(v) That in respect of the Network Navigation – West Yorkshire the 
Investment Committee recommended to the Combined Authority that:  

(a) The Network Navigation project proceeds through decision point 2 
(strategic outline case) and work commences on activity 3 (outline 
business case). 

(b) An indicative approval to the total package value of £15.20 million 
is given from the Transforming Cities Fund and £300,000 from 
Integrated Transport Bloc funding with full approval to spend once 
the package has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5. 

(c) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
package remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(vi) That in respect of the Transforming Access to Bradford Interchange 
package the Investment Committee recommended to the Combined 
Authority that:  

(a) The Transforming Access to Bradford Interchange package 
proceeds through decision point 2 (strategic outline case) and 
work commences on activity 3 (outline business case). 

(b) An indicative approval to the total Combined Authority funding of 
£13.2 million is given from the Transforming Cities Fund with full 
approval to spend once the package has progressed through the 
assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case with 

7



finalised costs). 

(c) Development costs of £350,000 have been approved for this 
project to date. A further £2.69 million from the Transforming 
Cities Fund is recommended for approval to progress to decision 
point 3 (outline business case).  

(x) Enter into an amended funding agreement with Bradford Council 
for additional development costs of up to £2.69 million from the 
Transforming Cities Fund, taking the total amount approved to 
£3.04 million. 

(d) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
package remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(vii) That in respect of the Transforming Access to Brighouse and Elland 
Railway Stations Investment Committee recommends to the Combined 
Authority that:  

(a) The Transforming Cycling and Walking Access in Brighouse and 
Elland Railways Stations package project proceeds through 
decision point 2 (strategic outline case) and work commences on 
activity 3 (outline business case) for the Brighouse Cycling and 
Walking Improvement Scheme and activity 4 (full business case) 
for the Elland Station Access scheme. 

(xi) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of 
£7.40 million, £5.42 million which will be funded from the 
Transforming Cities Fund and £1.98 million from the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (Elland station and access 
package) is given with full approval to spend being granted once 
the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs). 

(b) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs) through a 
delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s 
Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the package 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(viii) That in respect of the Transforming bus and active travel opportunities 
between Dewsbury and Bradford (A638) the Investment Committee 
recommended to the Combined Authority that:  

(a) The Transforming bus and active travel opportunities between 
Dewsbury and Bradford (A638) package proceeds through 
decision point 2 (strategic outline case) and work commences on 

8



activity 3 (outline business case)  

(b) An indicative approval to the total value of Combined Authority 
funding £16 million is given from the Transforming Cities Fund to 
spend once the package has progressed through the assurance 
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised 
costs). 

(xii) Approve for further development costs to progress this scheme to 
decision point 3 (outline business case) of £80,000, taking the 
total approved to £350,000 and enter into an amended funding 
agreement with Kirklees Council for an additional £80,000 from 
the Transforming Cities Fund. 

(c) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
package remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(ix) That in respect of the West Bradford – Cycle Superhighway the 
Investment Committee recommended to the Combined Authority that:  

(a) The West Bradford – Cycle Superhighway package proceeds 
through decision point 2 (strategic outline case) and work 
commences on activity 3 (outline business case). 

(b) An indicative approval to the total package value of £17.5 million is 
given from the Transforming Cities Fund with full approval to 
spend being granted once the package has progressed through 
the assurance process to decision point 5. 

(c) Development costs of £175,000 have been approved for this 
project to date. A further £1.25 million from the Transforming 
Cities Fund is recommended for approval for developments costs 
in order to progress the project to decision point 3 (outline 
business case) 

(xiii) Approval to enter into an amended funding agreement for this 
scheme with Bradford Council for an additional £1.25 million for 
development costs from the Transforming Cities Fund, taking total 
approved to £1.43 million 

(d) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
package remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(x) That in respect of the A660 Headingley Hills the Investment Committee 

9



recommended to the Combined Authority that:  

(a) The A660 Headingley Hill scheme proceeds through decision 
point 3 (outline business case) and work commences on activity 4 
(full business case). 

(b) That an indicative approval to the total project value of £5.1 million 
is granted from a funding source to be identified before the next 
decision point, with full approval to spend being granted once the 
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs). 

(c) Development costs of £825,807 from the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund are approved in order to progress the scheme to 
decision point 4 (full business case with finalised costs).  

(d) The Combined Authority enters into a funding agreement with 
Leeds City Council for £825,807 from the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund.  

(e) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(xi) That in respect of the Enterprise Zone – Langthwaite the Investment 
Committee recommended to the Combined Authority that:  

(a) The Langthwaite Enterprise Zone scheme proceeds through 
decision point 3 (outline business case) and work commences on 
activity 5 (full business case with finalised costs). 

(b) An indicative approval to the total scheme value of £5.55 million is 
given made up from the Local Growth Fund (£1.26 million) and 
Getting Building Fund (£4.29 million) with full approval to spend 
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the 
assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case with 
finalised costs). 

(c) Approval to development costs of £1.26 million from the Local 
Growth Fund to develop the scheme to decision point 5 (full 
business case with finalised costs), including funding to Wakefield 
Council to deliver the road, pre-construction enabling works and 
project development funding for the Combined Authority to 
develop and progress the scheme to the next decision point. 

(d) The Combined Authority enters into a funding agreement with 
Wakefield Council for an amount within the £1.26 million 
development costs from Local Growth Fund, the amount to be 
confirmed by the Programme team. 

10



(e) Approval of Funding reallocation between the Getting Building 
Fund and Local Growth Funding element to maximise efficient and 
timely use of the Local Growth Fund where allowed. 

(f) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs) through a 
delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s 
Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

1.3 That in respect of the Halifax, Walking Cycling and Bus Transformation 
Package – Halifax Bus Station the Investment Committee approved 
that:  

(i) The Halifax Bus Station scheme proceeds through decision point 
4 (full business case) and work commences on activity 5 (full 
business case with finalised costs). 

(ii) Indicative approval to total scheme costs of £15.805 million, with 
£15.4 million to be funded through the Transforming Cities Fund 
(TCF) and £405,000 from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 
(WY+TF), with full approval to spend being granted once the 
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs). 

(iii) Additional approval to £1.12 million development costs from the 
TCF fund, of which £421,000 is to reimburse the WY+TF and 
£700,000 to support development costs to progress to full 
business case with finalised costs (activity 5), taking the total 
approval to the scheme to £1.53 million. 

(iv) Approval to enter into a funding agreement with Calderdale 
Council for advanced works development activity as determined 
by the Project team, ahead of the next decision point 5, for an 
amount to be determined by the Project team within the overall 
approved development costs of £1.53 million as outlined in (iii) 

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s 
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the 
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

1.4 That in respect of the A61 North the Investment Committee 
recommended to the Combined Authority that: 

(i) The A61(North) scheme proceeds through decision point 4 (full 
business case) and work commences on activity 5 (full business 
case with finalised costs). 

11



(ii) An indicative approval to the total scheme value of £4.41 million is 
given from the Leeds Public Transport Improvement Programme 
fund with full approval to spend being granted once the scheme 
has progressed through the assurance process to decision point 
5. 

(iii) Development costs of £117,607 are approved in order to progress 
the scheme to decision point 5 taking the total scheme approval to 
£923,062 and approval of £892,141 for construction work 
undertaken at risk on package three, the Moortown Corner 
junction element, taking the total scheme approval to £1,815,203. 

(iv) The Combined Authority enters into a variation of the existing 
LPTIP Funding Agreement with Leeds City Council for expenditure 
of up to £1,815,203 from the LPTIP fund. 

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at 
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs) through a 
delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s 
Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(xii) That in respect of the Real Time Bus Information the Investment 
Committee approved that:  

(a) The Local Transport Plan – Integrated Transport Block (LTP – 
ITB) – Real Time Information scheme proceeds through decision 
point 5 (full business case with finalised costs) and work 
commences on activity 6 (delivery). 

(b) Approval to the total scheme value of £360,000 is given from the 
Local Transport Plan – Integrated Transport Block 2019-2022. 

(c) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance 
pathway and approval route outlined in this report following a 
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme 
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining 
within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

(XVI)  That in respect of the Growing Places Fund the Investment Committee 
recommended to the Combined Authority that: 

(a) Authority is delegated to the Combined Authority’s Section 73 
officer, upon receipt of a written request from a loan holder and 
giving consideration to all relevant matters, to approve and vary 
any terms of repayment of individual Growing Places Fund loans, 
with any variations to be subsequently reported to the Business 
Investment Panel for information.   

 

12



 (a)  Halifax, Walking Cycling and Bus Transformation Package - 
Halifax Bus Station 
 

1.5 That in respect of the Halifax, Walking Cycling and Bus 
Transformation Package – Halifax Bus Station the Investment 
Committee approved that:  

(i) The Halifax Bus Station scheme proceeds through decision 
point 4 (full business case) and work commences on 
activity 5 (full business case with finalised costs). 

(ii) Indicative approval to total scheme costs of £15.805 million, 
with £15.4 million to be funded through the Transforming 
Cities Fund (TCF) and £405,000 from the West Yorkshire 
plus Transport Fund (WY+TF), with full approval to spend 
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the 
assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case 
with finalised costs). 

(iii) Additional approval to £1.12 million development costs from 
the TCF fund, of which £421,000 is to reimburse the 
WY+TF and £700,000 to support development costs to 
progress to full business case with finalised costs (activity 
5), taking the total approval to the scheme to £1.53 million. 

(iv) Approval to enter into a funding agreement with Calderdale 
Council for advanced works development activity as 
determined by the Project team, ahead of the next decision 
point 5, for an amount to be determined by the Project team 
within the overall approved development costs of £1.53 
million as outlined in (iii) 

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the 
assurance pathway and approval route outlined in this 
report including at decision point 5 through a delegation to 
the Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a 
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme 
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
14. Strengthen decision making in light of the Climate Emergency 

 
The Committee considered a report which outlined the work underway to 
strengthen the Combined Authority’s decision making processes in light of the 
climate emergency.  
 
The work included the emission reduction pathways which sets out how the 
City Region can meet its carbon emission reduction target by 2038. 
 
The Combined Authority approved a new corporate approach to embedding 
clean growth, including reducing carbon emissions to tackle the Climate 

13



Emergency. 
 
Work was underway to create a more robust and quantifiable methodology to 
measure to calculate carbon emissions and initial recommendations and 
suggestions would be brought back to the Committee in November.  
 
Resolved: That the report be noted.  
 

14



 

 

Report to: West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 

Date:   7 October 2020 

Subject:   Capital Spending and Project Approvals  

Director: Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery 

Author(s): Craig Taylor 
 

   
 

1 Purpose of this report 

 To put forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a number of 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority supported projects, including West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (Transport Fund) and Growth Fund, for 
consideration by the Investment Committee at stages 1, 2 and 3 of the 
Combined Authority’s assurance process. 

 The Investment Committee has delegated decision making authority, this was 
approved by the Combined Authority on 13 December 2018. Where 
Investment Committee is asked to make an approval decision this will be 
highlighted in the summary table and made clear in the recommendations. 

2 Impact of COVID-19 

 The full implications of COVID-19 on the region and its economy and transport 
system are still to be understood and the impact on our programmes and 
schemes has been mixed. The schemes that were due to start in the first half 
of 2020/21 have experienced delays due to a variety of factors, therefore, 
during schemes’ business case development and appraisal process we are 
working closely with our council partners to ensure that the delivery timescales 
reflect the current issues and schemes are actively stress tested to ensure 
ongoing viability. 

 In the wake of COVID-19 it is more important than ever to assess the changes 
to the landscapes of our towns and cities and the impact on current and future 
planned schemes, particularly, but not exclusively, those relating to transport. 
The impact of COVID-19 in relation to travel behaviour into and around towns 
and cities is assessed as part of scheme appraisal. However, the business 
cases for some schemes in this report, were developed prior to COVID-19 and 
aim to address issues identified prior to lockdown restrictions. Therefore, the 
data presented for some schemes in this report, for example, expected 

15

Agenda Item 5



   
 

   
 

increases in passenger numbers, reflects the pre COVID-19 position. While 
currently public transport patronage is lower than pre COVID-19 levels it 
remains a priority to invest in public transport infrastructure to both help with 
economic recovery and to have the required infrastructure in place to respond 
to increase in demand post COVID-19. As scheme business cases develop 
further, growth assumptions will be re-tested.  

3 Integrated Clean Growth 

 The Combined Authority has taken action to ensure all decisions we make 
include Climate Emergency considerations. The Combined Authority:  

 has strengthened how clean growth and climate change impacts are 
considered as part of all schemes that come through the Combined 
Authority’s Assurance Framework. 

 requires LEP and the Combined Authority reports to include clean growth 
/ tackling the Climate Emergency implications, including qualitative 
impact assessments. 

 To fully strengthen decision making across the whole of the Combined 
Authority’s Assurance Framework a robust, quantifiable methodology for 
assessing all new schemes predicted carbon emissions/wider clean growth 
impacts is being developed.  

 Clean growth, including climate change, impact assessment / considerations 
are all now included in all Capital Spending and Project Approvals reports.  
This ensures that the business cases now reflect the Leeds City Region 
Climate Emergency priority and evidence that they will reduce carbon 
emissions (both directly and indirectly). 

4 Report 

 This report presents proposals for the progression of seven schemes through 
the Combined Authority’s assurance process in line with the Leeds City 
Region Assurance Framework. These schemes have a total combined funding 
value of £244.128 million when fully approved, of which the total value of 
£195.679 million will be funded by the Combined Authority. Further details on 
the schemes are summarised below and can be found as part of this report. 

 The assurance process is a three stage approach with the requirement that all 
projects subject to minor exceptions as detailed in the Assurance Framework, 
will as a minimum, need to formally pass decision point 2 (Strategic Outline 
Case) and 5 (Final Business Case with Finalised Costs), with the requirement 
to meet the intervening activities deemed on a project by project basis.  

 

16



   
 

   
 

Projects in stage 1: Eligibility 

 Projects at the eligibility stage are seeking entry into the portfolio and should 
demonstrate a strategic fit in terms of project outcomes, with further project 
definition including costs and detailed timescales to be developed as the 
project progresses through the assurance process.  At this stage, a long list of 
options will be considered with a shortlist being presented in the Strategic 
Outline Case (SOC). Consultation at this stage will be limited, but will be a key 
to the next activity, Outline Business Case (OBC) in Stage 2. At this stage, 
funding may be sought to enable work to progress on the OBC. 

Projects in Stage 2: Development 

 Projects at this development stage should demonstrate that they have tested 
the feasibility of a solution through their business case and that the necessary 
consultations have taken place. This business case should then be developed 
in order to confirm and detail the preferred solution including finalising its cost 
and obtaining the necessary statutory approvals. At this stage, funding may be 
sought to enable work to progress on the Final Business Case (FBC) and 
Final Business Case plus Finalised Costs (FBC+). 

Projects in Stage 3: Delivery and Evaluation 

 Once in Delivery and Evaluation the scheme is delivered and Combined 
Authority funding is drawn down. When delivery is completed a review is 
carried out to ensure that the scheme has met all its requirements and outputs 
in accordance with its Funding Agreement.  Finally, information about a 
scheme’s performance following its completion is collected, in order to 
evaluate the success of the scheme. 

 Further background information on the Combined Authority’s Assurance 
Framework through which each of the schemes outlined in this report are 
being approved is provided in Appendix 1. 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Funding 

  The March 2020 Budget announcement detailed that the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority would receive £317 million from the DfT Transforming 
Cities Fund to progress all schemes identified in the bid as a  ‘Low Cost 
Scenario’. The original TCF bid to DfT was framed around three funding 
scenarios, Low, Core and High. These scenarios included a mix of schemes 
that were deliverable at different scales in the three scenarios as well as some 
schemes that were only funded in core and high scenarios. 

 The Combined Authority has since approved the use of future gainshare to 
support delivery of the ‘High Cost Scenario’ of the Transforming Cities 
programme at an additional cost of up to £164.5 million. Promoters are 
therefore developing a range of options as part of scheme Outline Business 
Cases to determine the best scheme, which will include a range of options 
costing up to the High Scenario.   

17



   
 

   
 

 Please note that any reference below to the Transforming Cities Fund means 
£317 million from the DfT Transforming Cities Fund and the £164.5 million 
funding from gainshare. 

Value for Money - Benefit Cost Ratios  

 The Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) for some of the schemes in this report 
potentially represent low value for money, when assessed using the 
Department for Transport’s Transport Appraisal Guidance TAG on the 
appraisal of transport schemes.  

 This is because whilst calculating benefits to costs of a transport scheme there 
are many more journeys made by car than are made by bus, cycling and 
walking and as a consequence the monetised benefits arising from 
improvements to bus, cycling and walking journeys may be outweighed by the 
monetised dis-benefits to car users.  

 However, a key strategic objective of investment is to encourage modal switch 
to more sustainable modes and therefore whilst the ‘core’ BCR (i.e. following 
Green Book guidance on total impact on the society as a whole) for some 
schemes may be low, discounting the dis-benefits to car users from the 
appraisal will result in a higher BCR and where possible this ‘range of BCR’ 
will be presented to support decision making. 

 

18



   
 

   
 

Scheme 

Huddersfield Stations 
Gateway package - 
Preparing for 
Transpennine Route 
Upgrade (TRU) at 
Huddersfield and 
opening up 
employment sites 

Kirklees 

Scheme description 

The package aims to improve transport links between local 
areas and the town centre, improve access to and within the bus 
and rail station, increase station capacity and make it easier for 
people to get from one station to another to continue their 
journey.  

The package consists of three stand-alone schemes, 
Huddersfield Bus Station Upgrade, Huddersfield Major Walk and 
Cycle Routes (Trinity Street foot/cycle bridge and Walking and 
cycling gateway access) and Huddersfield Rail Station access 
(Cycle and taxi hub and High Speed 2 park and ride, Stair / lift 
tower St George’s Warehouse, Subway extension and new 
western rail station entrance) 

The package will be funded from the Transforming Cities Fund 
and will build on Growth Deal and West Yorkshire plus Transport 
Fund (WY+TF) investments to create a town centre transport 
hub. 

Impact 

The package is part of a wider programme to regenerate 
Huddersfield Station Gateway, in preparedness to capitalise on 
the regional growth potential of the Transpennine Route 
Upgrade (TRU) and HS2.  

The package will improve bus and rail station access and rail / 
bus interchange and will support expected increases in capacity 
at both stations. The improvements will allow easier access to 
the town centre and are  expected to increase footfall for 
businesses and reduce carbon emission, as a result of modal 
shift from cars to sustainable modes (bus, rail, cycling and 
walking).  

Decision sought 

Approval to proceed through decision point 2 (Strategic Outline 
Case) and work commences on activity 3 (Outline Business 
Case) 

Total value of the scheme - £37 million 

Total value of the Combined Authority funding - £28 million 

Funding recommendation sought - £99,679 

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part 

of this report.  

19



   
 

   
 

Scheme 

Halifax, Walking 
Cycling and Bus 
Transformation 
Package - North 
Halifax Cycle Super 
Highways, Park Ward 
Streets for People, 
Bus Priority  

Calderdale 

Scheme description 

This package will implement a series of improvements to 
transport facilities in and around Halifax, through individual 
schemes at Halifax Bus Station and Halifax Rail Station.  

It will also include bus priority improvements and bus 
connectivity improvements to the north and north west of the 
town and enhanced walking and cycling infrastructure within the 
town.  

The package comprises of five interrelated schemes at various 
stages of development and at different stages within the 
Combined Authority’s assurance process:   

 Halifax Bus Station - Full Business Case  

 Halifax Rail Station Gateway - Outline Business Case  

 North Halifax Active Travel – Strategic Outline Case  

 Park Ward Streets for People - Strategic Outline Case  

 West Halifax Bus Efficiency Strategic Outline Case  

This Strategic Outline Case brings together all five schemes as 
one package. 

The package will be funded from the Transforming Cities Fund 
with additional funding from the West Yorkshire plus Transport 
Fund for the Halifax Rail Station Gateway Scheme and £1 
million from the Local Transport Plan for the Park Ward Streets 
for People scheme.  

Impact 

The package will improve access to and around the town centre 
using sustainable modes of transport, from areas including North 
Halifax and new housing and employment developments in 
North and West Halifax. The package will improve bus 
connectivity, reliability and journey times through bus priority 
measures and will increase levels of cycling and walking. The 
package will also increase accessibility and safety at Halifax bus 
and rail stations and will improve public spaces in the town. 

Decision sought 

Approval for the package to proceed through decision point 2 
(Strategic Outline Case) and work commences on activity 3 
(Outline Business Case) for individual schemes 

Total value of the scheme - £71.805 million 

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £53.9 million 

Funding recommendation sought - £0 million 

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part 

of this report.  

20



   
 

   
 

Scheme 

TCF Leeds Rail Station 
Sustainable Travel 
Gateway (LSSTG) 

Leeds 

Scheme description 

The aim of the Leeds Rail Station Sustainable Travel Gateway 
(LSSTG) scheme is to develop a fully accessible multi-modal 
transport hub to improve the transition between rail travel and 
pedestrian, cycling, taxi, and bus services and promote the use 
of sustainable travel opportunities (bus, rail, cycling and walking) 
in Leeds.  

The key features of the scheme are: 

 The redevelopment of the external concourse connecting it 
to Bishopgate Street with new steps, forecourt, and soft 
landscaping, as well as step-free access options including 
new passenger lifts 

 New pedestrian priority areas on New Station Street, through 
the relocation of the existing taxi rank to Bishopgate Street 
and bus stops to locations on Boar Lane, Infirmary Street 
and Wellington Street  

 New segregated cycle lanes through Neville Street, Dark 
Neville Street and Victoria Road    

 A new 700 space cycle hub with supporting infrastructure for 
electric cycles    

 Environmental improvements to the cladding, road and 
pedestrian surfaces and lighting in Neville Street and Dark 
Neville Street. 

The scheme will be funded from the Transforming Cities Fund. 

Impact 

The scheme has the potential to deliver the following impacts: 

 Improving air quality in the immediate vicinity of Leeds 
Station  

 Supporting mode shift to sustainable modes and away from 
the private car to help reduce carbon emissions  

 Improving pedestrian flows and reduce barriers, making it 
easier for people to get to and from the rail station  

 Enhancing Leeds Station’s role, making it a welcoming and 
attractive gateway to the city  

 Improving accessibility and enhanced options for step-free 
access to Leeds Station  

Decision sought 

Approval to proceed through decision point 3 (outline business 
case) and work commences on activity 5 (full business case plus 
finalised costs). 

Total value of the scheme - £32.54 million 

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £32.44 million 

Funding recommendation sought - £3.01 million 

A decision by the Investment Committee using the delegated 

authority from the Combined Authority is sought as part of this 

report. 

21



   
 

   
 

Scheme 

A6110/Leeds City 
Centre Package 

Leeds 

Scheme description 

The Leeds City Centre Package (LCCP) programme includes 
schemes at Infirmary Street, City Square, Armley Gyratory, and 
Meadow Lane, plus a series of small complementary schemes 
to be developed and implemented as a result of the closure of 
City Square in a combined package called City Square+. 

This Change Request is seeking approval to reallocate £11 
million funding from the A6110 Outer Ring Road (ORR) scheme 
to the LCCP to support other schemes crucial to the effective 
operation of the highway network in Leeds.  

Leeds is still committed to delivering the A6110 ORR scheme, 
which is in the very early stages of development and the scheme 
will retain £1 million to develop an Outline Business Case (OBC) 
Approval is sought for development costs through this Change 
Request to progress to OBC. The scheme will then pause until 
further funding is found. Reaching OBC stage will prepare the 
scheme to capitalise on future funding opportunities to enable 
delivery. 

The LCCP programme and A6110 is wholly funded by the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF). 

Impact 

The LCCP programme aspiration is to transform travel within the 
city centre, by removing unnecessary through traffic. The 
programme includes the closure of City Square, capacity 
improvements to junctions on the Inner Ring Road (IRR) to 
mitigate the effect of diverted traffic, and highway improvements 
for pedestrians and cyclists to roads in the South Bank, to 
capitalise on the traffic reductions, improving the city centre 
environment.  

Through the planned LCCP measures, it is anticipated to deliver 
renewed and reliable infrastructure, reducing maintenance 
needs, and improving its resilience  

A reduction in traffic levels will increase the opportunities to 
improve public spaces with green infrastructure, as well as the 
opportunity to expand the active travel network (cycling and 
walking), improving accessibility and connectivity via sustainable 
modes of transport to and through the city centre, encouraging 
city centre living, potentially reducing travel demand.   

The LCCP programme supports inclusive growth of a better 
quality of life, improving multi modal (bus, rail, walking, cycling) 
access to employment, education, and retail through a low 
emission and sustainable transport system and supports better 
air quality and improvement to public spaces in the city centre. 

Decision sought 

Approval of the Change Request which seeks approval of the 
funding strategy for the LCCP as outlined below.  

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £77.8 million 

Funding recommendations sought: 

 Reallocate £11 million from the A6110 Outer Ring Road 
scheme, reducing its indicate scheme allocation from £12 

22



   
 

   
 

million to £1 million, to LCCP, increasing the total from 
£66.8 million to £77.8 million  

 Approval of development costs of £310,000 for the A6110 
Outer Ring Road scheme, from the revised scheme costs 
allocation of £1 million, to progress the scheme to 
decision point 3 (Outline Business Case), taking the total 
scheme development costs from £286,000 to £596,000.  

 Reallocate £1.5 million from Armley Gyratory WY+TF 
development costs, taking the total from £5.078 million 
to £3.578 million to City Square + taking its total 
development costs approval from £3.774 million to 
£5.274 million.   

A decision by the Investment Committee using the delegated 
authority from the Combined Authority is sought as part of this 
report. 

23



   
 

   
 

Scheme 

Beech Hill, Halifax   

Calderdale  

Scheme description 

The Beech Hill estate lies on the western edge of Halifax Town 
Centre, close to a range of services, facilities, and transport 
links.  It is a mixed-use area, which previously housed three 
vacant tower blocks and a former council depot. 

The regeneration of the site is a joint venture partnership 
between Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council and Together 
Housing Association (THA).    

The overall scheme will accelerate housing delivery by unlocking 
underused brownfield land to deliver ambitious housing plans 
and will lever in other private/public investment, on a site that 
would otherwise have poor viability due to the level of 
contamination and infrastructure works required.  

The scheme was split into two phases, phase 1a and 1b.  In 
June 2018, the Combined Authority approved £1.4 million from 
the Local Growth Fund for phase 1a, to contribute towards 
asbestos removal and demolition works across the site, 
including the removal of vacant tower blocks and a council 
depot. This is now complete. 

Phase 1b will undertake land remediation, remove 
contamination from the land and undertake infrastructure 
construction to prepare for the building of 105 new homes.  

The Full Business Case plus finalised costs (FBC+) is now 
seeking approval for the Combined Authority’s contribution of 
£797,000 for phase 1b, to be funded from the Local Growth 
Fund. 

The Combined Authority’s contribution will total £2.197 million 
towards the indicative total scheme cost of £21.742 million (Ph 
1a and 1b). THA is contributing £14.418 million towards the total 
scheme costs, Homes England are contributing £4.725 million 
and CMBC are contributing £402,000.    

Impact 

105 new homes, available at affordable rents, will be 
constructed on the site through Phase 1; these will be owned 
and managed by Together Housing Association. 

Decision sought 

Approval for Beech Hill Phase 1b to proceed through decision 
point 5 and work commences on activity 6 (delivery).   

Total value of the scheme (Phase 1a and 1b) - £21.742 million 

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £797,000 (Phase 
1b) 

Funding recommendation sought - £797,000 (Phase 1b) 

A decision by the Investment Committee using the delegated 

authority from the Combined Authority is sought as part of this 

report. 

24



   
 

   
 

Scheme 

Strategic Business 
Growth 

Leeds City Region 

Scheme description 

The Strategic Business Growth programme engages with 
small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs), across the Leeds 
City Region, with the ambition and aspirations to grow. The 
programme provides an integrated package of support, which 
will comprise of tailored advice along with financial support 
(capital grants) to help SMEs grow and create new 
employment opportunities. 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
approved a Project Change Request on 8 April 2020 for an 
extension to the Strategic Business Growth Programme valued 
at £3.241 million to run until 31 March 2023. 

The costs have been agreed on a matched funding basis with 
a Government contribution of £1,620,551, Local Growth Fund 
match funding of £1,120,551 and SME match funding of 
£500,000. 

This change request recommends acceptance of the 
Government contribution and match funding from the Local 
Growth Fund. 

Impact 

The programme will run until 31 March 2023 funded through a 
combination of local and EU funding, matched by the 
enterprises engaged in the project and will deliver the following: 

 Provide one-to-one and one-to-many support to a 
minimum of 345 businesses 

 Provide financial support to a minimum of 30 
businesses (as part of the total of 345) where 
demonstrative evidence can be provided that financial 
intervention along with intensive business support will 
accelerate growth 

 Create a minimum of 690 jobs within the Leeds City 
Region 

 Seek to lever at least £0.5m of private sector funding 

 Support the growth of business in Leeds City Region’s 
priority sectors 

 Through the financial strand of the programme, realise 
additionality in complementary projects - either 
supporting investment that would not otherwise happen, 
bring forward investment so that it is realised sooner or 
ensuring that investment happens on a greater scale. 
 

Decision sought 

That the Change Request is approved for additional funding to 
allow the programme to continue to deliver until 31 March 
2023. 

Total value of the scheme - £3.241 million 

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £2.742 million 

Funding recommendation sought - £2.742 million 

A decision by the Investment Committee using the delegated 

authority from the Combined Authority is sought as part of this 

report. 

25



   
 

   
 

 

 Since the Investment Committee’s meeting on 1 September 2020, the 
following decision points and change requests have been assessed in line with 
the Combined Authority’s assurance process and approved through the 
agreed delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director. Under the 
delegation a total expenditure of £4.833 million has been approved. 

Scheme 

One Public Estate 
phase 6 

Harrogate & Wakefield 

Scheme description 

One Public Estate (OPE) is an established national 

programme delivered in partnership by the Cabinet Office 

Government Property Unit (GPU) and the Local Government 

Association (LGA). It provides practical and technical support 

and funding to councils to deliver ambitious property-focused 

programmes in collaboration with central government and 

other public sector partners. 

The Combined Authority’s phase 6 allocation of £320,000 of 

revenue funding for several projects designed to help public 

sector sharing and collaboration on land and property issues 

was confirmed in March 2018. 

After funding was confirmed two partner councils, Kirklees and 

Wakefield withdrew their bids, following which the Combined 

Authority received Cabinet Office/ OPE approval to reallocate 

the £80,000 unclaimed funding to Harrogate Council (£50,000) 

and Mid-Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust (MYT) (£30,000). 

Impact 

Re-allocation of this funding will enable OPE partners to 

continue to develop their schemes, specifically: 

Harrogate Council – continuation of junction design/ modelling 

for the Harrogate Station Gateway scheme, a development 

appraisal, legal costs for the development agreement, the 

business case for a North Yorkshire LGF application and 

communications and marketing costs.  

MYT - developing vacant land at Pontefract Dispensary: 

surveying the site (which includes a Grade 1 listed structure) 

for disposal for housing and providing a ‘sales pack’ for 

prospective purchasers to make an informed offer for the site. 

Decision sought 

The Managing Director approved this change request on 14 

August 2020 giving approval to allocate a further £50,000 to 

Harrogate Council for the Station Gateway project and £30,000 

to the Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust for the Pontefract 

Dispensary project and reduce the contribution to Wakefield 

and Kirklees Council from £80,000 to £0 from OPE phase 6. 

This change remains within the overall Combined Authority 

approval of £320,000 

 

26



   
 

   
 

Scheme 

Transport Hubs & 
Public Transport 
Access Schemes – 
Phase 2 

Leeds 

Scheme description 

These schemes are part of a package within the Transport 
Hubs and Connecting Communities workstream within the 
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP)  

The three individual schemes that are the subject of this 
approval are: Middleton Bus Stop Improvements, Cottingley 
Bus Stop Improvements and Rothwell and Robin Hood 
Walking & Cycling Links 

These will create new or upgrade existing facilities to improve 
the waiting environment and travel information offer as well as 
enhancing connections within and between other public 
transport hubs and communities by improving walking and 
cycling links.  

The schemes will be funded through the LPTIP.  

Impact 

The schemes’ wider social benefits include health benefits by 
encouraging active mode travel and improved air quality 
through anticipated reduction in traffic congestion, and a better 
quality of life with improved access to public transport, 
particularly for those in areas of deprivation, and subsequently 
to communities / jobs within the City Region, and more 
attractive waiting environments. 

The value for money assessment at FBC+ gives a combined 
BCR value of 1.62  

Decision sought 

The Managing Director approved this decision point 5 (full 
business case with finalised costs) on 28 August 2020 giving 
approval to the Combined Authority funding of the total 
scheme cost of £3.09 million and for work to commence on 
activity 6 (delivery) 

Scheme 

Urban Traffic 
Management Control 
(UTMC) Element C 

West Yorkshire 

 

Scheme description 

The scheme is to deliver a combined Urban Traffic 
Management Control (UTMC) service- reorganising the 
existing UTC services within West Yorkshire, and combining 
the existing four UTC teams, to provide improved day-to-day 
management and coordination across the network through an 
integrated team at a single location 

The scheme is to be funded through the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund. 

Impact 

Delivery of the new combined UTMC service will enable more 
efficient and seamless management of the West Yorkshire 
highway network, which will have a number of benefits for the 
economy, environment and those living and working in the 

region, this including:   

 Better management of congestion to unlock capacity on 

the highway network and to improve journey times  

 A more resilient network able to better manage 

unplanned events 

 Air quality improvements 

27



   
 

   
 

 Increase in employment and the promotion of economic 

growth by the completion of transport schemes across 

West Yorkshire regardless of boundaries 

Element C will contribute to the clean growth agenda by 
reducing the resources used (such as electricity, water etc.) by 
providing one central combined office 

The overall programme has a BCR of 1.82 (medium value for 
money)  

Decision sought 

The Managing Director approved this decision point 5 (full 
business case with finalised costs) on 28 August 2020 giving 
approval to the Combined Authority funding of the total 
scheme cost of £1.20 million and for work to commence on 
activity 6 (delivery) 

Scheme 

Corporate Technology 
Programme – B07 
Meeting Room 
Technology 

 

 

Scheme description 

The Corporate Technology Programme (CTP) will deliver the 
Corporate Technology Strategy (CTS) which was approved by 
the Combined Authority’s (CA) Organisation Management 
Team on 20th March 2018. 

The Meeting Room Technology workstream is to deliver the 
procurement and installation of Meeting Room Systems and 
technology to the required standards. 

This comprises  

 Audio Visual equipment – screens and Video 

Conferencing equipment 

 Meeting Room Booking system 

Impact 

The equipment delivered will be fit for purpose and encourage 
and enhance collaboration within the CA and between the CA 
and Local Partner Councils, including consultants and other 
external stakeholders. The current COVID-19 situation has 
provided concrete evidence that remote working can be an 
effective working model for the future therefore suitable 
technology will ensure effective and collaborative working 
environment to future proof the CA and in supporting its 
expansion and growing business needs. 

Decision sought 

The Managing Director approved this change request on 28 
August 2020 giving approval to the CTP Meeting Room 
Technology project to increase the overall CTP budget by 
£120,000. 

Scheme 

Digital Inward 
Investment Fund / 
Strategic Inward 
Investment Fund 

Scheme description 

As part of Growth Deal 3 a total of £13.45 million was awarded 
to set up a business support fund to meet identified gaps in 
provision across the city region with two schemes created to 
deliver this. 

The Digital Inward Investment Fund (DIIF), which has a current 
allocation of £2.5 million, is a scheme to support the growth of 

28



   
 

   
 

the creative, digital and technology sector in Leeds City 
Region. 

The Strategic Inward Investment Fund (SIIF), which has a 
current allocation of £10.95 million, is a scheme to support 
inward investing businesses to locate in Leeds City Region 
and foreign owned businesses growing in the City Region 

Impact 

The change will lead to a flexible funding pot being created 
that will continue to support inward investments into the City 
Region as part of COVID-19 recovery, while also growing 
digital businesses with an existing presence in the region 

Decision sought 

The Managing Director approved this change request on 28 
August 2020 giving approval to merge the existing Strategic 
Inward Investment Fund and the Digital Inward Investment 
Fund into one fund, with a total allocation of £13.45 million. 

Scheme 

City Connect Phase 3: 
Castleford Greenway 
Phase 4 

Leeds/Wakefield 

Scheme description 

The scheme will deliver a 1.3km off-road greenway link to the 
Trans Pennine Trail from the existing Wakefield to Castleford 
routes being delivered through the City Connect programme. 
This will address a missing off-road cycle link within the 
Methley area cycle network, and provide a complete route 
between Leeds, Wakefield, and Castleford.  

Impact 

The scheme’s wider social benefits include improved journey 
quality for cyclists by creating a more direct and traffic-free 
route; health benefits as a result of increased cycling uptake; 
inclusive growth benefits through improved access to 
employment, skills and education for low income and 
vulnerable groups from deprived communities via the 
greenway; and environmental benefits through encouraging 
modal shift towards active modes, thereby improving air quality 
and reducing carbon emissions within the local area. 

The value for money assessment gives a Very High BCR of 
4.73 

Decision sought 

The Managing Director approved this decision point 5 (full 
business case with finalised costs) on 28 August 2020 giving 
approval to the Combined Authority funding of the total 
scheme cost of £371,686 and for work to commence on 
activity 6 (delivery) 

Scheme 

Transforming Travel 
Centres 

Scheme description 

The Transforming Travel Centres scheme aims to deliver 
remodelled travel centres in Bradford, Huddersfield and 
Pontefract bus stations and bring them in line with banks and 
other retailers by increasing the number of self-service 
machines. This will provide a balance of face to face counter 
service and self-service, reducing the time customers spend 
queuing.  

29



   
 

   
 

The Change Request sought approval for further development 
costs of £51,000 from the indicative total scheme allocation of 
£1 million, to progress the scheme to decision point 2 
(Strategic Outline Case), bringing the total development costs 
to £101,000.  

Impact 

The change will enhance scheme development which in turn 
will lead to a more efficient service being provided for 
customers, including shorter waiting times. The transformed 
travel centres will provide a modern face to the bus service 
provided, improving the uptake of public transport in the 
region, and contributing to the net zero carbon 2038 target. 

Decision sought 

The Managing Director approved this change request on 11 
September 2020 giving approval to increase the scheme 
development costs by £51,000, bringing the total development 
costs to £101,000, to continue the scheme’s progression to 
decision point 2. 

 
 

5 Information 

 The background information on the Combined Authority’s assurance 
framework through which each of the schemes outlined in this report are being 
approved is provided in Appendix 1. In addition, this appendix also provides a 
description of the approach for the future assurance approval pathway and the 
assurance tolerances for each scheme. 

  

30



   
 

   
 

Projects in stage 1: Eligibility 

Project Title 
Huddersfield Stations Gateway package - Preparing 
for Transpennine Route Upgrade (TRU) at 
Huddersfield and opening up employment sites 

Stage 1 (eligibility) 

Decision Point 2 (strategic outline case) 

 

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes ☒ No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes ☐ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt 
information or appendices? 

☐ Yes ☒ No 

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, 
Local Government Act 1972, Part 1: 

 

Background 

 This package will be funded through the Department for Transport’s 
Transforming Cities Fund (TCF). As part of the Government’s Industrial 
Strategy and the National Productivity Investment Fund, the TCF aims to drive 
up productivity through improved connections between urban centres and 
suburbs and will build on Growth Deal and West Yorkshire plus Transport 
Fund (WY+TF) investments. 

 The TCF programme is organised into three themes which focus on improving 
public transport and cycling corridors, improving accessibility to key locations, 
and improving transport hubs and interchange facilities. Local partners are 
developing packages of schemes for approval at Strategic Outline Case 
(SOC) before bringing individual schemes through the assurance process at 
Outline Business Case.  

 The package is part of a wider programme to regenerate Huddersfield Station 
Gateway, in preparedness to capitalise on the regional growth potential of the 
Transpennine Route Upgrade and High Speed 2. The wider Gateway 
programme is anticipated to accelerate the delivery of a major mixed-use 
development, planned at St. George’s Warehouse, adjacent to the rail station 
along with several town centre housing schemes and other private sector 
investment projects to support the town’s growth. The package seeks to 
address current challenges including:  

 bus and rail station capacity and the improvements needed to prepare for 
the Transpennine Route Upgrade (TRU), which will see passenger 
numbers increase    

 a lack of disabled access at the bus and rail station  

31



   
 

   
 

 the dominance of private cars on the approach to the main urban areas 
and within Huddersfield Town Centre  

 the need to improve access to, and interchange between, sustainable 
transport modes (rail, bus, cycling and walking) to continue journeys, to 
encourage more people to switch from private car and make 
employment, leisure and retail more accessible to more people  

 At activity 2 (Strategic Outline Case), the package consists three stand-alone 
schemes, which will progress individually through the Combined Authority’s 
assurance process:  

 Huddersfield Bus Station 

o Huddersfield Bus Station upgrade – upgrade of the bus station 
building, including access improvements for entry to the bus station 
and inside the station, improvements to the main entrance and 
improving the attractiveness of public spaces next to the station  

 Huddersfield major walk and cycle routes 

o Trinity Street foot/cycle bridge – a new bridge over the inner ring 
road (IRR) (Castlegate) at the Trinity Crossing, to improve the 
quality and capacity of crossing the IRR at Trinity Street.  Other 
options are also being appraised and being developed in parallel, 
including upgrades to the existing surface crossing and underpass  

o Walking and cycling gateway access – major improvements to 
the quality and safety of the walking and cycling route between east 
Huddersfield districts, the rail station and other key town centre 
destinations. Includes improvements to public spaces to increase 
the attractiveness of the walking and cycling routes and town centre  

 Huddersfield Rail Station access 

o Cycle and taxi hub and High Speed 2 (HS2) park and ride – 
creation of a new cycle hub, with changing and locker facilities, next 
to Huddersfield Rail Station car park, to accommodate increased 
demand from cyclists. Creation of new taxi hub in the car park to 
the north east of the railway station to make walking access to the 
station through St George’s Square easier for pedestrians and 
measures to create park and ride car spaces within St George’s 
Warehouse car park  

o Connection of the railway station to St George’s Warehouse – 
an additional eastern entrance at the station by re-opening an 
historic doorway, highway improvements and acquisition of the 
warehouse and car park 

o Subway extension and new western rail station entrance – 
extension to the existing rail station subway with a new western 
entrance linking the rail station with the St George’s Warehouse 
site. This proposal will primarily be funded by the £5 million West 
Yorkshire plus Transport contribution 

32



   
 

   
 

 Overall, the package will improve links between the local area and the town 
centre and improve access to the bus and rail station.  

 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in 
Appendix 2.  

Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications 

 Through achieving modal shift from private car towards more sustainable ways 
of travel, this package should reduce emissions, resulting in improved air quality 
which will positively contribute toward Leeds City Region and Kirklees partner 
council’s carbon reduction targets.  

 The improved pedestrian and cyclist infrastructure will help achieve the short-
and long-term ambitions outlined in the Cycling and Walking Investment 
Strategy, by encouraging an increased uptake of walking and cycling, as these 
modes are perceived as the most convenient, accessible and safest way to 
travel. 

 The cycle route forms part of the priority Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) route to be funded through the 'Walk and Cycle 
Access' sub-package, a key element of this package By encouraging increased 
uptake of sustainable travel modes, including walking and cycling, the package 
will reduce transport related emissions across Huddersfield Town Centre and 
adjoining areas, improve local air quality and help tackle the national challenge 
of air pollution, as outlined in the Clean Air Strategy. 

Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications 

 The scheme outputs and benefits include 

 Improved access to and connectivity between Huddersfield Rail Station, 
Huddersfield Bus Station, the town centre, colleges, and suburbs / 
outlying villages  

 Reduced carbon emissions and improved air quality because of the 
increased use of sustainable modes (bus, rail, cycling and walking) to 
travel to, from and around the town centre  

 Enabling inclusive growth by connecting more people to opportunities 
and opening access to jobs, services, and the wider economy  

 Bus user benefits relating to journey time savings and improved 
passenger experience for new and existing bus users 

 Revenue benefits from regenerated retail floorspace in Huddersfield Bus 
Station and the likely generation of additional jobs 

 Better access to education and employment, leisure, and retail  

 Potential reduction in CO2 emissions due to the installation of energy 
efficient facilities as part of the redevelopment of Huddersfield Bus 
Station 

33



   
 

   
 

Risks 

 The scheme key risks include: 

 COVID-19 pandemic and not being able to conduct site visits / public 
consultations, therefore there is a risk of not being able to deliver the 
scheme by 2023. Mitigated by the Combined Authority discussing 
possible funding extension / timescale reconfiguration with Department 
for Transport  

 Non-agreement from landowner with consequences for programme and 
cost. Mitigated by early dialogue with landowners, and early scoping of 
planning and environmental issues 

 If the St George’s Warehouse site cannot be acquired the stair/lift, taxi 
hub, park and ride and cycle hub cannot be delivered. Mitigated by 
ongoing engagement with the landowner and Kirklees Council and 
alternative land options included for cycle hub, taxi hub and park and 
ride.  

 Listed Building Consent may be required for the Grade I listed railway 
station and Grade II listed St George’s Warehouse. Mitigated by 
developing scheme options to be sympathetic to the environment to give 
the best chance of success 

 Potential disruption to road network during construction period. Mitigated 
by public consultation at early stages and throughout the process and 
measures put in place to minimise disruption where possible.  

Costs 

 The scheme costs are: 

 This package has a TCF funding allocation of £16.5 million for Low Cost 
Scenario, £18.5 million for Medium Cost Scenario and £28 million for the 
High Cost Scenario.   

 The total value of the package is £42 million; £28 million from the 
Transforming Cities Fund (TCF), £10 million from West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund (WY+TF – Huddersfield Station Gateway Phase 1 and 2) 
and £4 million from Kirklees Council’s Kirklees Town Centre Capital fund. 

 Combined Authority approved £816,321 of development costs from TCF, 
on 25 June 2020, for the package to develop individual Outline Business 
Cases and progress to decision point 3.  A further £99,679 is now 
requested to progress the schemes to OBC. This will bring the total 
approval to £0.916 million. 

 

 

 

34



   
 

   
 

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast 
approval 
date 

2 (strategic outline 
case) 

Recommendation:  Investment 
Committee 

Decision: Combined Authority 

10/11/2020  

3 (outline business 
case) for individual 
schemes  

Recommendation:  Combined 
Authority's Programme Appraisal 
Team 

Decision: Investment Committee 

Dependent 
on individual 
scheme 
assurance 
pathway 

Other Key Timescales 

 This package comprises of three individual schemes (Huddersfield Major 
Walking & Cycling Routes, Huddersfield Bus Station, Huddersfield Rail Station 
Access). Following decision point 2 approval, each individual scheme will 
develop an Outline Business Case and follow its own specific assurance 
pathway. At package level, start on site is expected to begin January 2022 and 
completion on site is expected in March 2023. 

Assurance Tolerances 

Assurance tolerances 

That Combined Authority costs remain within an increase of 10% of those 
outlined in this report. 

That the timeframes remain within 6 months of those outlined in this report. 

Project Responsibilities 

Senior Responsible Officer Angela Blake, Kirklees Council  

Project Manager Keith Bloomfield, Kirklees Council  

Combined Authority case officer Alpha Thiam, West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority  

Appraisal Summary 

 This package is aligned with national, local, and regional strategies and 
policies, including Strategic Economic Plan priorities. Package objectives have 
been provided. The forecasted outcomes and benefits have been defined, and 

35



   
 

   
 

although high level, they appear to be realistic and achievable. A wide range 
of options have been identified and appraised to recommend a preferred way 
forward for the package and indicative costs are shown for each option. The 
promoter has been asked for clarity around planned work for St George’s 
Warehouse.  

Recommendations 

 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that 

(i) The Huddersfield Stations Gateway package proceeds through Decision 
Point 2 and work commences on Activity 3 (outline business case) 

(ii) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority contribution of £28 
million from the Transforming Cities Fund, with full approval to spend 
once the package has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5 (Full Business Case plus finalised costs). Total Project 
Costs are £42 million (£28 million TCF, £10 million WY+TF and £4 million 
from Kirklees Council’s Kirklees Town Centre Capital fund). 

(iii) Development costs of £99,679 are approved, to progress the scheme to 
decision point 3 (outline business case), taking the total approval to 
£0.916 million. 

(iv) The Combined Authority issue an addendum to the existing Funding 
Agreement with Kirklees Council for expenditure of up to £0.916 million 
from the Transforming Cities Fund. 

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in this report including at Decision Point 5 
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Portfolio 
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the 
tolerances outlined in this report. 

 

Project Title 
Halifax, Walking Cycling and Bus Transformation 
Package - North Halifax Cycle Super Highways, Park 
Ward Streets for People, Bus Priority  

Stage 1 (eligibility) 

Decision Point 2 (strategic outline case) 

 

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes ☒ No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes ☐ No 

36



   
 

   
 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt 
information or appendices? 

☐ Yes ☒ No 

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, 
Local Government Act 1972, Part 1: 

 

Background 

 This package will be funded through the Department for Transport’s 
Transforming Cities Fund (TCF). As part of the Government’s Industrial 
Strategy and the National Productivity Investment Fund, the TCF aims to drive 
up productivity through improved connections between urban centres and 
suburbs.  

 The TCF programme is organised into three themes which focus on improving 
public transport and cycling corridors, improving accessibility to key locations, 
and improving transport hubs and Interchange facilities. Local partners are 
developing packages of schemes for approval at strategic outline case (SOC) 
before bringing individual schemes through the assurance process at outline 
business case. 

 The primary issues and challenges identified which this package seeks to 
address are:  

 The barriers caused by the A58 and A629, which make journeys into the 
town centre more difficult for people in surrounding areas 

 High levels of deprivation and unemployment in north and west Halifax 

 Bus reliability, journey times and connectivity in west Halifax and parts of 
north Halifax  

 A bus station in need of modernisation  

 Poor accessibility to the rail station 

 Reducing existing barriers to travel including availability of travel 
information, waiting environment and safety / improved accessibility. 

 The package comprises of five interrelated schemes, which will improve 
transport facilities in and around Halifax addressing the challenges identified in 
para 5.19 above. The schemes are at different stages of business case 
development, as outlined below. This Strategic Outline Case brings together 
all five schemes as one package. 

 Halifax Bus Station (Full Business Case plus finalised costs) – The 
scheme will include creating a modern, fully accessible bus station which 
reduces barriers to travel and creates a better and safer waiting 
environment. The bus station design will incorporate energy and carbon 
saving features and will support smoother integration between different 
transport modes. The bus station will also have electric bus charging, 

37



   
 

   
 

cycle parking, electric bike charging and better travel information with 
links to rail real time information.  

 Halifax Rail Station Gateway (Full Business Case) - The scheme will 
include creating a multi modal (bus, train, cycling and walking) transport 
interchange, a new footbridge between the rail station and the town 
centre, an underpass for walkers and cyclists beneath the station, in 
conjunction with an extension to the Hebble Trail for other cycling and 
walking routes and a revised car park layout including accessibility 
measures and electric vehicle charging.  

 North Halifax Active Travel (Strategic Outline Case) - The scheme will 
create cycle links from the town centre towards Mixenden, Ovenden and 
Illingworth and create greater space for walking within residential areas 
of Ovenden and Holmfield.  

 Park Ward Streets for People (Strategic Outline Case) - The scheme 
will include walking improvements to address barriers Park Ward 
residents’ experience when accessing the town centre and community 
led improvements to public spaces within Park Ward.  

 West Halifax Bus Efficiency (Strategic Outline Case) - The scheme will 
improve journey times for residents from areas of high deprivation, with 
bus priority measures at known hotspots which cause delays.    

 The package will be funded from the Transforming Cities Fund with additional 
funding from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund for the Halifax Rail 
Station Gateway Scheme and £1 million from the Local Transport Plan for the 
Park Ward Streets for People scheme. 

 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in 
Appendix 3.  

Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications 

 The provision of new cycleways, pedestrian access facilities and interventions 
to make the Halifax transport system more joined-up, will contribute to transport 
behavioural change in Halifax and Calderdale, by encouraging people to choose 
sustainable travel modes (rail, bus, cycling and walking), mitigating against the 
impacts of the climate emergency whilst supporting a transition to a low carbon 
economy. 

 The package will also make key contributions to reducing carbon by providing 
electric bus and bike charging infrastructure and improving cycle parking at 
Halifax Bus Station. The bus station design will also incorporate energy and 
carbon saving features including 100m2 of solar panels on the roof and LED 
lighting throughout and a living roof and green wall.  

 Considerations such as solar panels, energy saving lighting and rainwater 
recycling will be incorporated into the design of the Rail Station Gateway 
scheme. The scheme will also include improved cycle parking, a green 

38



   
 

   
 

retaining wall, tree planting, sustainable urban drainage, and wildflower 
planting.  

Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications 

 The package is aiming to:  

 Improve access to Halifax Town Centre, including the bus and rail 
stations, by sustainable modes for residents in areas including North 
Halifax and Park Ward  

 Improve bus availability, reliability, and journey times through bus priority 
measures at known delay hotspots and improved connectivity   

 Increase levels of walking and cycling within Halifax and improved 
journey times because of new infrastructure Improve safety and 
accessibility all users at Halifax Bus and Rail stations 

 Improve the attractiveness of public spaces in Halifax  

 Promote inclusive growth by making it easier for people to access 
educational facilities and employment sites in Halifax and further afield 
through transport improvements 

 Higher levels of sustainable travel from new housing and employment 
development sites Modal shift from car to sustainable modes (rail, bus, 
walking and cycling) resulting in air quality improvements  

 This package has a forecast benefits cost ratio (BCR) of 1.38. 

Risks 

 The scheme risks include: 

 Risks associated with acquisition of third-party land which has cost and 
delay implications. Mitigated by minimising third party land requirements 
where possible and early engagement with key third party landowners 
(through public consultation and / or direct engagement) 

 Unforeseen ground conditions and services increasing cost. Mitigated by 
undertaking site surveys to inform options appraisal and development 
costs 

 Public and stakeholder acceptance of the scheme proposals mitigated 
through early engagement and stakeholder management along with 
inclusive and comprehensive consultation processes on scheme designs 
as they are developed.  

Costs 

 The scheme costs are: 

 This package has a TCF funding allocation of £39.9 million in the Low 
Scenario and Core Scenario and £53.9 million in the High Scenario.     

39



   
 

   
 

 The total value of the package is £71.805 million; TCF contribution is 
£53.9m, £16.5m from WY+TF, £405,000 CMBC and £1m LTP for Park 
Ward Streets for People.   

 The Combined Authority has to date approved development costs of 
£5.203 million for this package from the Transforming Cities Fund, for 
each of the five schemes to develop business cases and progress 
individually through the assurance process. No further funding is 
required. 

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast 
approval 
date 

2 (strategic outline 
case) 

Recommendation:  Investment 
Committee 

Decision: Combined Authority 

10/11/2020  

3 (outline business 
case) for individual 
schemes  

Recommendation:  Combined 
Authority's Programme Appraisal 
Team 

Decision: Combined Authority's 
Managing Director 

Dependent 
on individual 
scheme 
assurance 
pathway  

Other Key Timescales 

 This package comprises of five individual schemes: Halifax Bus Station 
(FBC+), Halifax Rail Station Gateway (FBC), North Halifax Active Travel 
(SOC), Park Ward Streets for People (SOC), West Halifax Bus Efficiency 
(SOC). 

 Following decision point 2 approval, each individual project will develop an 
Outline Business Case and follow their own specific assurance pathway. All 
five schemes are at different stages in the Combined Authority’s assurance 
process.  

Assurance Tolerances 

Assurance tolerances 

That Combined Authority costs remain within a 10% increase of those outlined 
in this report. 

That the timeframes remain within 6 months of those outlined in this report. 

 

40



   
 

   
 

Project Responsibilities 

Senior Responsible Officer Steven Lee, Calderdale Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

Project Manager Tom Jones, Calderdale Metropolitan 
Borough Council  

Combined Authority case officer Alpha Thiam, West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority   

Appraisal Summary 

 The package aligns with national, local, and regional strategies and policies, 
including Strategic Economic Plan priorities. Objectives are clearly outlined. 
The challenges the package aims to address have been provided, however, 
public sector costs associated with the current situation are absent. The scope 
and package requirements are given. A wide range of options have been 
identified and indicative costs and benefits for each option have been 
provided. Forecast costs have also been provided for each option with a 
recommendation to approve the High Cost Scenario at decision point 5 (Full 
Business Case plus finalised costs).  

Recommendations 

 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:  

(i) The Halifax Walking, Cycling, Rail and Bus Transformation package 
proceeds through Decision Point 2 and work commences on Activity 3 
(outline business case) for individual schemes. 

(ii) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority contribution of £53.9 
million from the Transforming Cities Fund, with full approval to spend 
once the package has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5 (Full Business Case plus finalised costs). Total Project 
Costs are £71.805 million (£53.9 million TCF, £16.5 million WY+TF, 
£405,000 CMBC and £1m LTP for Park Ward Streets for People.  

(iii) An indicative approval to the total package value of £53.9 million is given 
from the Transforming Cities Fund with Full Approval to spend being 
granted once the scheme has progressed through the Assurance 
Process to Decision Point 5. 

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in this report including at Decision Point 5 
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Portfolio 
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the 
tolerances outlined in this report. 

41



   
 

   
 

Projects in Stage 2: Development 
 

Scheme Title TCF Leeds Rail Station Sustainable Travel Gateway 

Stage 2 (development) 

Decision Point 3 (outline business case) 

 

Is this a key decision? ☒ Yes ☐ No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes ☐ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? 

☐ Yes ☒ No 

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local 
Government Act 1972, Part 1: 

 

Background 

 This scheme will be funded through the Department for Transport’s 
Transforming Cities Fund (TCF). As part of the Government’s Industrial Strategy 
and the National Productivity Investment Fund, the TCF aims to drive up 
productivity through improved connections between urban centres and suburbs. 
To do this, the TCF provides a significant opportunity to invest in infrastructure 
to improve public and sustainable transport connectivity in some of England’s 
largest cities. This scheme will be funded through Tranche 2 of the fund, which 
received Department for Transport’s approval in March 2020.  

 Leeds Rail Station is the busiest in the North of England and Network Rail has 
indicated that in its current configuration it will be struggling to accommodate 
passengers by 2026. Passenger numbers are forecast to increase by over 80% 
by 2043, driven by investment in High Speed Rail 2 (HS2), Northern 
Powerhouse Rail (NPR) and major upgrades to Trans-Pennine routes and 
services.  

 A number of key challenges are driving the need for early improvements to the 
station and its immediate environs including:  

 Increased carbon emissions (Neville Street has the highest levels of 
carbon emissions of any street outside London), poor pedestrian, cycle, 
and disabled accessibility at Leeds Station.  

 Conflicting uses (general traffic, service vehicles and taxis) and 
congestion create an unsafe and unwelcoming environment 

 A lack of legible and prioritised pedestrian and cycle routes to and from 
Leeds Station and the city centre and surrounding areas 

42



   
 

   
 

 Poor quality and disjointed public realm in and around areas of Leeds 
Station, giving a poor sense of ‘arrival’ and limited attraction as a key 
civic space. 

 The aim of the Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway (LSSTG) scheme - 
part of the Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan (LISM) – is to develop a fully 
accessible multi-modal transport hub to improve the transition between rail 
travel and pedestrian, cycling, taxi and bus services and promote the use of 
sustainable travel opportunities. Key stakeholders continue to be consulted on 
the emerging designs for the scheme to ensure that it meets the needs of the 
range of users of the station. 

 The key components of the scheme are:  

 Redevelopment of the external concourse, connecting it to Bishopgate 
Street with new steps and soft landscaping, as well as step-free access 
options including new passenger lifts 

 New safer pedestrian priority areas on New Station Street, through the 
relocation of the existing taxi rank to Bishopgate Street and bus stops to 
locations on Boar Lane, Infirmary Street and Wellington Street  

 New segregated cycle lanes through Neville Street, Dark Neville Street 
and Victoria Road   

 A new 700 space cycle hub with supporting infrastructure for electric 
cycles   

 Environmental improvements to the cladding, road and pedestrian 
surfaces and lighting in Neville Street and Dark Neville Street to address 
issues around safety and security. 

 The LSSTG scheme was part of the Active and Sustainable Travel in Leeds City 
Centre package, which received decision point 2 (Strategic outline case) 
approval from the Combined Authority on 25 June 2020. The other scheme in 
this package, Leeds City Centre Cycle Connectivity, received decision point 3 
(Outline business case) approval from the Combined Authority on 27 July 2020 

 The scheme will support the delivery of Priority 4 (Infrastructure for Growth) of 
the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) by improving connectivity between homes 
and jobs, the city centre, and wider City Region 

 The scheme will be delivered by Leeds City Council. Balfour Beatty has been 
appointed as principal contractor, with Atkins Global as principal consultant. 
Network Rail is a key delivery partner and represented on the Station 
Programme Board along with the Combined Authority and other key 
stakeholders. 

 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in 
Appendix 4.  

 

43



   
 

   
 

Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications 

 The scheme will support mode shift to sustainable active travel and away from 
the private car to help reduce carbon emissions. There is a specific scheme 
objective to improve air quality in the immediate vicinity of Leeds Station, with 
measurable reductions in nitrogen dioxide (NO2) on Bishopgate Street and Dark 
Neville Street following completion of the scheme. 

 Further work to establish the climate change implications of the scheme will be 
undertaken as it progresses through the assurance process. 

Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications 

 The scheme outputs and benefits include: 

 Improving air quality in the immediate vicinity of Leeds Station – 
achieving a 10% reduction in the NO2 levels on Bishopgate Street and 
Dark Neville Street by 2024 

 Supporting mode shift to sustainable modes and away from the private 
car to help reduce carbon emissions - increasing the number of cycle 
trips to and from Leeds Station by 70% by 2024 

 Improving pedestrian flows and connectivity between the city centre and 
the station - leading to a measurable reduction in pedestrian crowding on 
New Station Street, Bishopsgate Street and Boar Lane by 2024 

 Enhancing Leeds Station’s role as a civic gateway - increasing annual 
pedestrian footfall on New Station Street, Bishopgate Street and Dark 
Neville Street from 34 million to 46 million by 2026 

 Improving accessibility and enhanced options for step-free access to 
Leeds Station, ensuring that the designs meet user requirements and are 
DDA Compliant - using passenger satisfaction surveys before and after 
scheme completion and continuing to engage with key stakeholders to 
ensure that the scheme addresses equality and accessibility needs  

 Supporting and facilitating forecast growth in rail passengers using Leeds 
Station by providing safe, secure, and welcoming pedestrian access.  

 An assessment of potential social impact provided by the scheme promoter 
indicates that the scheme will have a broadly beneficial impact on all social 
groups by providing more direct access routes between the station and Leeds 
City Centre, facilitating the use of sustainable transport modes and improving  
connectivity between the station and city centre enhancing journey quality, 
safety and the perception of security throughout the immediate area. 

 The principal contractor has made a number of social value commitments as 
part of its contract with Leeds City Council, which include commitments to 
targets for skills and training, local spend, the use of SMEs and social enterprise 
and minimising environmental impacts during construction. 

 

44



   
 

   
 

Risks 

 The scheme risks include: 

 Late vacation of leasehold premises delays the programme. Mitigated 
through ongoing negotiations (led by Network Rail) and early access for 
survey work 

 Structural investigations lead to delays to programme and increase in 
costs – mitigated by undertaking surveys before detailed design phase 
and reviewing cost estimates 

 Significant changes to statutory undertakers’ equipment leading to 
increased construction costs and delays to programme. Mitigated by 
integrating utilities searches/investigation findings into the RIBA Stage 3 
design stage and the early employment of a specialist utilities sub-
contractor  

 Delay in removing asbestos from the roof below the station leading to 
increased design costs and delays to programme. Mitigated by Network 
Rail removing asbestos ahead of main construction works 

 Traffic management during scheme construction leading to increased 
congestion and poor public perception of the scheme. Mitigated by 
stakeholder engagement on the development of the traffic management 
plan                           

 Planning consent conditions impact of scheme scope, costs, and 
programme. Mitigated by allowing for the resolution of conditions in the 
programme 

 Stakeholders have raised concerns over accessibility for all to the station.  
This is being mitigated at OBC by engaging and consulting with number 
of representative organisations including the Access and Usability Group 
(AUAG), the Network Rail BEAP group, the Leeds Disabled Peoples 
Organisation. The scheme has established an Inclusive Design Group 
which has representatives from all Equality Act protected characteristic 
groups. Feedback and concerns will be incorporated into further design 
stages when the scheme comes forward at FBC.  

 Significant amendments to the design required by Network Rail leads to 
delays to programme and increased costs. Mitigated by engagement with 
Network Rail on the LSSTG scheme board and the Station programme 
board 

Costs 

 The total cost of the scheme is £32.54 million. This will be funded by:   

 £31.69 million from Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

 £500,000 from West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF) 

45



   
 

   
 

 £250,000 from the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme 
(LPTIP) 

 £100,000 from the Network Rail Heritage Fund 

 The TCF allocation for this scheme is part of the Active and Sustainable Travel 
in the Leeds City Centre package decision point 2 approval of £39.5 million, 
approved by the Combined Authority. The other scheme in this package (Leeds 
City Centre Cycle Connectivity) has received decision point 3 (Outline business 
case) approval for £7.810 million from the Combined Authority. The costs of the 
component schemes within the package will continue to be monitored and 
managed within the overall TCF package allocation as the schemes progress 
to decision point 5 (Full business case plus finalised costs).  

 This package has a TCF funding allocation of £31.69 million in all three 
scenarios.  

 The WY+TF funding for this scheme will be drawn from the City Centre Package 
(City Square) indicative allocation. This will allow enabling works to Boar Lane 
to be brought forward from the City Square scheme to support this one. A 
provisional allocation of £5.089 million remains for the City Square scheme and 
an outline business case for that is expected in spring 2021. 

 The LPTIP funding is part of the LISM allocation approved by the Combined 
Authority. Network Rail Heritage Funding is subject to approval and will be 
confirmed at the next stage of the assurance process. 

 Development costs of £2.084 million have been approved to date for this 
scheme. A further £3.01 million is now requested to progress the scheme to 
RIBA Stage 4 (Technical Design) and start on site. This will bring the total 
approval to £5.094 million.  

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast 
approval date 

3 (outline business case) Recommendation:  Investment Committee 

Decision: Combined Authority 

10/11/2020  

5 (full business case with 
finalised costs) 

Recommendation:  Combined Authority's 
Programme Appraisal Team 

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing 
Director 

30/04/2021 

Other Key Timescales 

 Start on site – June 2021 

 Construction completion – December 2022 

46



   
 

   
 

Assurance Tolerances 

Assurance tolerances 

That any scheme cost increase remains within an increase of 5% of costs set out in this 
report. 

Timescale for completion to remain within two months of the timescale set out in this report. 

Scheme Responsibilities 

Senior Responsible Officer Martin Farrington, Leeds City Council 

Scheme Manager Chloe Dummer, Leeds City Council 

Combined Authority Lead appraiser Ian McNichol, West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority  

Appraisal Summary 

 The strategic drivers for the scheme and the interrelationship with LISM and 
associated transport, economic development and regeneration proposals and 
schemes in Leeds City Centre are clearly set out. An update on consultation 
and engagement (which has been impacted by COVID-19) illustrates that 
concerns raised particularly in terms of accessibility for all users will need to be 
addressed before the next stage of the assurance pathway. 

 The economic case presents a ‘core’ benefit cost ratio of 2.7 which puts the 
scheme in the High value for money (VFM) category when assessed using the 
DfT’s Transport Appraisal Guidance (TAG). However, most potential monetised 
benefits from the scheme relate to public realm benefits which are highly 
variable depending on the assumptions that they are based on. 

 On this basis the scheme promoter has been requested to submit an addendum 
to the economic case and present a revised VfM statement. This will be reported 
to the Investment Committee at its meeting on 7 October 2020. 

 The principal contractor has been appointed by Leeds City Council and the 
scheme team is in place with representation from key delivery partners and this 
sits within the Station Programme Board governance structure. A scheme-
specific project board will be established during the next stage of the assurance 
process. The key delivery constraints/risks are understood with appropriate 
mitigating measures in place.  

 Further work will also be required at the next stage of the assurance process to 
confirm the Benefits Realisation and Monitoring & Evaluation plans for the 
scheme, within the context of the wider TCF programme. 

Recommendations  

 The Investment Committee approves that: 

47



   
 

   
 

(i) The Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway (LSSTG) scheme 
proceeds through decision point 3 (outline business case) and work 
commences on activity 5 (full business case plus finalised costs) 

(ii) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £32.44 
million (which will be funded through £31.69 million from the 
Transforming Cities Fund, £500,000 from the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund and £250,000  from the Leeds Public Transport 
Investment Programme) is given with full approval to spend being 
granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process 
to decision point 5 (Full busines case with finalised costs). A further 
£100,000 in match funding will come from Network Rail taking the total 
project cost to £32.54 million. 

(iii) Development costs of £3.01 million are approved, to progress the 
scheme to decision point 5 (Full business case with finalised costs), 
taking the total approval to £5.094 million 

(iv) The Combined Authority issue an addendum to the existing Funding 
Agreement with Leeds City Council for expenditure of up to £5.094 
million from the Transforming Cities Fund. 

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway 
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5 
(Full business case plus finalised costs) through a delegation to the 
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
the Combined Authority’s Portfolio Appraisal Team. This will be subject to 
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

  

48



   
 

   
 

 

Project Title A6110/Leeds City Centre Package 

Stage 2 (development) 

Decision Point Change request (activity 3) 

 

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes ☒ No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes ☐ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? 

☐ Yes ☒ No 

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local 
Government Act 1972, Part 1: 

 

Background 

 Over the next five to ten years, Leeds City Centre will be the focus of major 
changes, through a series of infrastructure investments, aimed at the 
improvement and transformation of public transport, public realm, and the 
promoting of active travel (cycling and walking) modes. 

 The West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF) Leeds City Centre Package 
(LCCP) programme aspiration is to transform travel within the city centre, 
through the removal of unnecessary through traffic. The programme includes 
the closure of City Square, highway improvements for pedestrians and cyclists 
to roads in the South Bank and capacity improvements to junctions on the Inner 
Ring Road (IRR).  

 A reduction in traffic levels will increase the landscaping opportunities across 
the city centre, as well as the opportunity to expand the active travel network 
(cycling and walking), improving accessibility and connectivity via sustainable 
modes of transport to and through the city centre and encouraging city centre 
living, potentially reducing travel demand.  

 The LCCP programme includes schemes at Infirmary Street, City Square, 
Armley Gyratory and Meadow Lane, plus a series of small complementary 
schemes. 

 Through the planned LCCP measures, it is anticipated to deliver renewed and 
reliable infrastructure, reducing maintenance needs and improving its resilience, 
as well as deliver Smart City enhancements using new technologies to make 
Leeds resilient and adaptive to future transport and mobility needs.  

49



   
 

   
 

 As development of each scheme has progressed, a funding gap of £11 million 
has been identified to deliver all of the schemes. 

 This Change Request is seeking approval to reallocate £11 million funding 
from the A6110 Outer Ring Road (ORR) scheme to the LCCP to support other 
schemes, crucial to the effective operation of the highway network in Leeds.  

 The promoter is still committed to delivering the A6110 ORR scheme, which is 
in the very early stages of development and the scheme will retain £1 million.  
The scheme is seeking development costs to develop the Outline Business 
Case (OBC) through this Change Request, at which stage the scheme will 
pause, until further funding is secured. Reaching OBC stage will prepare the 
scheme to capitalise on future funding opportunities to enable delivery.  
Further details can be found in the Costs section.  

 The resulting LCCP programme is set out in the below table: 

Scheme WY+TF Indicative Allocation 

Infirmary Street £8.9 million 

Meadow Lane £9.5 million 

Armley Gyratory £45 million 

City Square + 
 City Square 

 Boar Lane 

 Complementary Schemes 

£14.4 million 
 £5.9 million 

 £0.5 million 

 £8 million 

Total Programme Cost £77.8 million 

 The smaller complementary schemes within the LCCP, intended to support 
the closure of City Square, have been grouped with City Square into a single 
scheme known as City Square+, which includes East Parade bus gate, 
business district traffic management, Westgate merge signals at A58(M), 
Great Wilson St widening, Holbeck traffic management (Globe Road 
signalisation), a signage strategy and a trial closure (or access restrictions) for 
City Square and associated traffic management to assist buses, pedestrians 
and cyclists. 

 This Change Request is also seeking approval for development costs to 
support the City Square + to progress to decision point 5 (Full Business Case 
+ costs). 

 The trial closure is planned for 2021 with the potential for a phased 
introduction of traffic management measures, possibly including the 
reallocation of road space to cycling on the approaches to City Square, 
starting later this year, depending on the prevailing traffic and economic 
conditions. This is subject to further assessment, engagement activity and 
approvals. The trial would be implemented in a carefully managed way, 
enabling a smoother transition to a full and permanent closure in 2022.  

50



   
 

   
 

 Attention is also drawn to Boar Lane, which forms a part of City Square+ but 
has been identified for early implementation through the TCF Leeds Station 
Sustainable Travel Gateway scheme. 

Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications 

 The LCCP programme will remove unnecessary through traffic from the city 
centre, with scheme interventions reprioritising strategic corridors to / from and 
within the town centre to public transport, active travel (walking, cycling), and 
public realm, enhancing accessibility to employment, education, and retail via a 
low emission, sustainable transport system and supporting better air quality. 

Outputs, Benefits, and Inclusive Growth Implications 

 The scheme outputs and benefits include: 

 The LCCP programme supports inclusive growth of a better quality of life, 
improving multi modal (bus, rail, walking, cycling) access to employment, 
education, and retail through a low emission and sustainable transport 
system, supporting better air quality and improvement to public spaces in 
the city centre.  

Risks 

 The scheme risks include: 

 Integration of the design and implementation programmes, with multiple 
schemes from different funding sources being developed and 
implemented in parallel with this scheme. Mitigated by close liaison with 
scheme promoter, project and programme boards, funder, and others to 
secure the necessary approvals in a timely manner. 

 Affordability, given cost pressures which have emerged in recent scheme 
estimates and construction tender prices Mitigated by early contractor 
involvement and feeding in learning from current Leeds Public Transport 
Investment Programme and Combined Authority experiences 

 The current appraisal guidance and scope of expected benefits makes it 
hard to fully capture all the economic benefits of closing City Square, 
whilst capturing the economic disbenefits from traffic having to re-route 
around the edge of the city centre. Mitigated by close liaison between 
Combined Authority officers and the promoter in developing the business 
case 

 The closure of City Square, together with the other measures, is a major 
change to the well-established highway network of Leeds City Centre 
and raises the risk of unexpected consequences. Mitigated by proposing 
to fully explore a trial closure or access restrictions for City Square, to 
assist with robust planning for a permanent closure situation, as well as 
consultation and engagement, seeking to minimise adverse impacts on 
buses. 

51



   
 

   
 

Costs 

 The scheme costs are £77.8 million. 

This Change Request is seeking approval: 

 To reallocate £11 million from the A6110 Outer Ring Road (ORR) 
scheme (reducing the indicative scheme costs from £12 million to £1 
million) to the Leeds City Centre Package WY+TF programme budget to 
support other schemes crucial to the effective operation of highway 
network in Leeds, increasing the total LCCP scheme costs from £66.8 
million to £77.8 million 

 For development costs of £310,000 for the A6110 Outer Ring Road 
scheme, from the revised indicative total scheme costs allocation of £1 
million, to progress the scheme to decision point 3 (Outline Business 
Case), taking the total scheme development costs from £286,000 to 
£596,000  

 For the Combined Authority to enter into an addendum to the existing 
funding agreement with Leeds City Council for expenditure up to 
£596,000 from the WY+TF for the A6110 ORR scheme 

 To reallocate £1.5 million from Armley Gyratory WY+TF development 
costs, (taking the total from £5.078 million to £3.578 million to progress 
the scheme to decision point 5 (FBC+)), to City Square+ taking the total 
development costs from £3.774 million to £5.274 million to progress to 
decision point 5 (Full Business Case plus finalised costs).  

 For the Combined Authority to enter into an addendum to the existing 
funding agreement with Leeds City Council for expenditure up to £3.578 
million from the WY+TF for the Armley Gyratory scheme. 

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast 
approval date 

Change request (activity 
3) 

Recommendation:  Combined Authority's 
Programme Appraisal Team 

Decision: Investment Committee 

07/10/2020  

Other Key Timescales 

 The City Square+ Outline Business Case is expected in Spring 2021. However, 
to support delivery timescales, the Boar Lane works included in the City 
Square+ scheme have been progressed as part of the Transforming Cities Fund 
(TCF) Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway Outline Business Case. This 
scheme is also being considered by the Investment Committee on 7 October 
2020.  

52



   
 

   
 

 The Armley Gyratory Full Business Case plus finalised costs (decision point 5) 
is now expected in August 2021, rather than January 2021 as further work is 
required to develop the reduced scope scheme option. Scheme opening 
(decision point 6) is still expected in December 2022, as the construction 
programme will likely be shorter given reduced land remediation and land 
acquisition and less interface with utilities. 

 The Meadow Lane scheme is being delivered as part of the Corn Exchange 
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP) scheme. The Full 
Business Case (decision point 4) was approved on 31 July 2020.The indicative 
approval for Meadow Lane (LCCP) is £9.5 million and £15 million for Corn 
Exchange (LPTIP).  

 The Infirmary Street scheme is in delivery (Activity 6). 

Assurance Tolerances 

Assurance tolerances 

Cost and programme tolerances to be set through the respective scheme business cases. 

Project Responsibilities 

Senior Responsible Officer Gary Bartlett 

Project Manager Mark Philpott 

Combined Authority case officer Asif Abed 

Appraisal Summary 

 The Change Request suitably sets out the rationale behind the funding revisions 
made to enable affordability of the LCCP programme, bringing together the 
approach as set out in the funding strategy paper endorsed at the Combined 
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team meeting on 14 July 2020. As a result, it 
will enable the delivery of the overarching Connecting Leeds strategic ambitions 
and realisation of the anticipated benefits and outcomes. Delivery of LCCP 
schemes will complement activities being delivered through funding 
programmes including LPTIP, TCF, and City Connect. 

 It is also recognised that the reduced scope of the Armley Gyratory scheme will 
still support delivery of the primary objective of removing traffic from central 
Leeds to more suitable routes, including the IRR. The promoter is now 
developing the scheme to Full Business Case (decision point 4) which is 
expected in June 2021.  

 Appraisal also notes that the promoter is still committed to delivering the A6110 
ORR scheme, developing the scheme to Outline Business Case (decision point 
3) and continuing to explore funding opportunities to support construction. 

53



   
 

   
 

Recommendations 

 The Investment Committee approves the Change Request which seeks 
approval of the funding strategy for the LCCP as outlined below:  

(i) The reallocation of £11 million from the A6110 Outer Ring Road (ORR) 
scheme (reducing the indicative scheme costs from £12 million to £1 
million) to the Leeds City Centre Package West Yorkshire plus Transport 
Fund programme budget, increasing the total from £66.8 million to £77.8 
million. 

(ii) Development costs of £310,000 for the A6110 Outer Ring Road scheme, 
from the revised indicative total scheme costs allocation of £1 million, to 
progress the scheme to decision point 3 (Outline Business Case), taking 
the total scheme development costs from £286,000 to £596,000. 

(iii) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing A6110 
scheme funding agreement with Leeds City Council to increase 
expenditure from up to £286,000 to up to £596,000 from the WY+TF. 

(iv) The reallocation of £1.5 million from Armley Gyratory WY+TF 
development costs (taking the total from £5.078 million to £3.578 million 
to progress the scheme to decision point 5 (Full Business Case plus 
finalised costs), to City Square+ taking the total development costs from 
£3.774 million to £5.274 million to progress to decision point 5 (Full 
Business Case plus finalised costs). 

(v) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing Armley 
Gyratory scheme funding agreement with Leeds City Council, to 
decrease expenditure from up to £5.078 million to up to £3.578 million 
from the WY+TF 

(vi) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing funding 
agreement with Leeds City Council for expenditure to up to £5.274   
million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund for the City Square+ 
scheme 

(vii) Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in this report, including delegation to the 
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
the Combined Authority’s Portfolio Appraisal Team. This will be subject to 
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

  

54



   
 

   
 

Project Title Beech Hill Halifax  

Stage 2 (development) 

Decision Point 5 (full business case with finalised costs) 

 

Is this a key decision? ☒ Yes ☐ No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☐ Yes ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? 

☐ Yes ☒ No 

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local 
Government Act 1972, Part 1: 

 

Background 

 The Beech Hill scheme is part of the Combined Authority’s Housing and 
Regeneration Programme and aligns with Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 
Priority 4 - Infrastructure for Growth. 

 The Beech Hill estate lies on the western edge of Halifax Town Centre, close 
to a range of services, facilities, and transport links.  It is a mixed-use area, 
which previously housed three vacant tower blocks and a former council 
depot. 

 The regeneration of the site is a joint venture partnership between Calderdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council and Together Housing Association (THA).    

 The overall scheme will accelerate housing delivery by unlocking underused 
brownfield land to deliver ambitious housing plans and will lever in other 
private/public investment, on a site that would otherwise have poor viability 
due to the level of contamination and infrastructure works required.  

 The scheme was split into two phases, phase 1a and 1b.  In June 2018, the 
Combined Authority approved £1.4 million from the Local Growth Fund for 
phase 1a, to contribute towards asbestos removal and demolition works 
across the site, including the removal of vacant tower blocks and a council 
depot. This is now complete. 

 Phase 1b will undertake land remediation, remove contamination from the land 
and undertake infrastructure construction to prepare for the building of 105 
new homes.  

 This Full Business Case plus finalised costs (FBC+) is now seeking approval 
for the Combined Authority’s contribution of £797,000 for phase 1b, to be 
funded from the Local Growth Fund. 

55



   
 

   
 

 The Combined Authority’s contribution will total £2.197 million towards the 
indicative total scheme cost of £21.742 million (Ph 1a and 1b). THA is 
contributing £14.418 million towards the total scheme costs, Homes England 
are contributing £4.725 million and CMBC are contributing £402,000.    

 Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council (CMBC) is the promoter and is 
responsible for the development and project management of the scheme. 
Together Housing Association (THA) is the developer and will contract with 
ESH Construction to deliver the housing units.  CMBC and THA have a long-
established partnership and will be responsible for securing the full funding 
package for the site. 

 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in 
Appendix 5.  

Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications 

 The project aims to construct 105 new homes on a remediated brownfield site, 
which if left undeveloped, would have further deteriorated, and blighted the 
area.  The vacant tower blocks and old depot were removed as part of phase 
1a of the scheme, with the spoil created through demolition, being retained on 
site, and used within the remediation works.     

 The site is close to Halifax Town Centre and public transport links. A cycleway 
will be constructed within the site and will link to the town centre to encourage 
and facilitate active travel (cycling and walking).   

 The homes will be available at affordable rents and there is an aspiration to 
achieve greater levels of energy efficiency.  

Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications 

 The scheme outputs and benefits include: 

 transforming and regenerating a deprived area of Halifax which is 
disproportionately affected by lower income, educational attainment, and 
residents with no qualifications in comparison to Calderdale as a whole  

 constructing 105 homes, to be owned and managed by Together 
Housing Association and all available at affordable rents by the end of 
2022 

 providing housing to cater for a range of needs through improved 
accessibility and providing a range of sizes of homes for families  

 remediating and bringing back into use 2.7 hectares of brownfield land 

 150 full time equivalent construction jobs, provided through the 
demolition, remediation, and construction, resulting in £9 million net 
additional Gross Value Added (GVA) within the City Region  

 the benefit to cost ratio is 1.2:1 in terms of the total public sector funding 
(4:1 if considering the Combined Authority’s funding only).  It should be 

56



   
 

   
 

noted however that the inclusive growth and regeneration benefits of the 
improved quality of housing provision, and of place, are difficult to 
monetise, and are therefore not captured within this assessment.   

Risks 

 The scheme risks and mitigating measures for the promoter include: 

 securing full planning permission; reserve matters are being dealt with 
and changes have been made to the site design to accommodate the 
requirements; this has resulted in 105 units rather than 107, together with 
some fluctuations in cost  

 escalating costs; a contractor has now been procured through the 
Efficiency North framework and a fixed sum design and build contract will 
be signed. All design, programme and financial risk will sit with the 
contractor 

 the scheme has been developed over a number of years with 
considerable consultation with, and input from, the local community; 
should the scheme stall, or fail to deliver aspirations, the damage to 
confidence in the community could be significant.  The project board has 
representatives from all local stakeholders to ensure continued buy-in, 
regular communication and all partners are fully committed to delivering 
the scheme 

 technical difficulties found on site; extensive and detailed site 
investigations carried out, mitigations costed and worked into 
programme.  

Costs 

 The scheme costs are: 

 This Full Business Case plus finalised costs (FBC+) is now seeking 
approval for the Combined Authority’s contribution of £797,000 for phase 
1b, to be funded from the Local Growth Fund. 

 The Combined Authority’s contribution will total £2.197 million towards 
the indicative total scheme cost of £21.742 million (Ph 1a and 1b). THA is 
contributing £14.418 million towards the total scheme costs, Homes 
England are contributing £4.725 million and CMBC are contributing 
£402,000.    

 The risk of major changes to costs is low, however they remain indicative 
until the full funding package is secured and full planning permission 
achieved. THA will be responsible for any rise in costs, should this minor 
risk materialise 

 

 

57



   
 

   
 

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 

Assurance pathway Approval route Forecast 
approval date 

5 (full business case with 
finalised costs) 

Recommendation:  Investment Committee 

Decision: Investment Committee 

07/10/2020  

6 (delivery) Recommendation:  Combined Authority's 
Programme Appraisal Team 

Decision: Combined Authority's Director of 
Delivery 

30/11/2022 

7 (review and close) Recommendation:  Combined Authority's 
Programme Appraisal Team 

Decision: Combined Authority's Director of 
Delivery 

31/03/2023 

Other Key Timescales 

 Final designs and costs agreed, full planning permission secured and enter 
design and build contract – September 2020   

 Start on site – October 2020 

 Completion – November 2022   

Assurance Tolerances 

Assurance tolerances 

That the total scheme cost remains within 10% of the costs identified within this report. 

That the scheme delivery timescale remains within three months of the timescales identified 
within this report. 

That housing outputs remain within 10% of the figures set out in this report   

Project Responsibilities 

Senior Responsible Officer Heidi Wilson - CMBC, Strategic Housing 
Delivery Manager 

Project Manager Fern Petrovic - CMBC, Housing Project 
Manager 

Richard Armitage - CMBC, Housing 
Enabling and Projects Manager 

Combined Authority case officer Vicky Dumbrell – West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority, Programme Manager 

58



   
 

   
 

Appraisal Summary 

 The Beech Hill scheme aims to transform and regenerate a deprived area of 
Halifax by providing 105 new homes, available at affordable rents, within a 
mixed-use site.  The site is a brownfield site and has required significant 
remediation to prepare it for construction. If the development did not go ahead 
the area would have been likely to deteriorate further.   

 The area currently has poor quality housing together with low income levels, 
educational attainment and residents with no qualifications compared to the 
rest of Calderdale.  The area is more diverse in terms of ethnicity.    The 
scheme therefore is strongly aligned with the Combined Authority’s inclusive 
growth agenda and will contribute towards enhanced social inclusion.  In 
addition, the cycleway will facilitate active travel and connect the area to the 
town centre.  It is noted that the BCR is low (1.2:1); however, the wider 
benefits to the community are difficult to monetise and have not been 
accounted for in this calculation.    

 The Growth Deal will contribute around 10% of the total cost of the scheme, if 
approved. The demolition is complete, significant progress has been made on 
the reserve matters on the planning application. and the full funding package 
will be in place by the end of August. This will trigger the signing of the design 
and build contract. There is a risk of further changes to the design and costs, 
however this is now low risk due to the progress made. Any additional costs 
will be covered by Together Housing. Calderdale and Together Housing have 
a strong track record of partnership working.  

Recommendations 

 The Investment Committee approves that:  

(i) The Beech Hill Phase 1b scheme proceeds through decision point 5 (full 
business case plus finalised costs) and work commences on activity 6 
(delivery) 

(ii) Approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £797,000 funded 
from the Local Growth Fund is given. Total Project Costs for Phase 1a 
and 1b are £21.742 million; £1.4 million from previous the Local Growth 
Fund approval, £14.418 million THA, £4.725 million Homes England and 
£402,000 CMBC. 

(iii) That the Combined Authority issue an addendum to the existing Funding 
Agreement with Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council for expenditure 
of up to £2.197 million from the Growth Deal (£1.4 million Ph 1a, £0.797 
million Ph 1b).  

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway 
and approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by 
the Combined Authority’s Portfolio Appraisal Team. This will be subject to 
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.  

59



   
 

   
 

  

60



   
 

   
 

Projects in Stage 3: Delivery and Evaluation 

 

Project Title Strategic Business Growth  

Stage 3 (delivery and evaluation) 

Decision Point Change request (activity 6) 

 

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes ☒ No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes ☐ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? 

☐ Yes ☒ No 

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local 
Government Act 1972, Part 1: 

 

Background 

 The Strategic Business Growth Programme (BGP) was originally launched in 
February 2013, with funding previously awarded through the Regional Growth 
Fund. The original programme ran from February 2013 to March 2015. Once 
the Growth Deal was agreed, a further £18 million was awarded from the Local 
Growth Fund round 1, covering the period 1 April 2015 to March 2018. A 
further £9 million was awarded from round 3, to extend the programme to 
March 2021. 

 The programme engages with small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) 
across the Leeds City Region with the ambition and aspirations to grow. The 
programme provides an integrated package of support, which will comprise of 
tailored advice along with financial support (capital grants) to help SMEs grow 
and create new employment opportunities.  

 The support will be targeted at SMEs operating within the Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Partnership’s priority sectors of manufacturing, low carbon, and 
environmental, financial, and business services, digital and creative and health 
and life sciences.  

 The previous Growth Deal funded scheme ran until March 2021 and supported 
the creation of over 500 net new jobs to the Leeds City Region, supporting 165 
businesses in the priority sectors and leveraging in £50 million of private 
sector investment. The scheme exceeded its forecasts and continues to 
deliver strongly. If additional funding is allocated to the scheme it would enable 
the programme to deliver until March 2023 and support more businesses. 

Description of the Change Request 

61



   
 

   
 

 The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government approved a 
Project Change Request on 8 April 2020 for an extension to the Strategic 
Business Growth Programme valued at £3.241 million to run until 31 March 
2023. 

 The costs have been agreed on a matched funding basis with a Government 
contribution of £1,620,551, Local Growth Fund matched funding of £1,120,551 
and SME matched funding of £500,000. 

 This change request recommends acceptance of the Government contribution 
and match funding from the Local Growth Fund. 

 The programme will run until 31 March 2023 and will be funded through a 
combination of local and European Union funding, matched by the SMEs 
engaged in the programme.   

 Through the financial strand of the programme, either support investment that 
would not otherwise happen, bring forward investment so that it is realised 
sooner, or ensuring that investment happens on a greater scale. 

 Approving the Change Request will enable the programme to continue to 
provide grant support to businesses until the end of the programme (31March 
2023) 

 The change does not require any change to the delivery model and the 
existing project team will deliver the additional outputs.   

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications 

 The forecast outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications from the 
funding requested, as part of this Change Request are: 

 Provide one-to-one and one-to-many support to a minimum of 345 SMEs 

 Provide financial support to a minimum of 30 businesses (as part of the 
total of 345), where demonstrative evidence can be provided that 
financial intervention, along with intensive business support will 
accelerate growth 

 Create a minimum of 690 jobs within the Leeds City Region 

 Seek to lever at least £500,000 of private sector funding 

 Support the growth of business in Leeds City Region Enterprise 
Partnership’s priority sectors 

Risks 

 As this is a government funded programme where funding has already been 
agreed and signed there is no risk directly associated to the Combined 
Authority.   

 

62



   
 

   
 

Costs 

 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government approved a Project 
Change Request on 8 April 2020 for an extension to the Strategic Business 
Growth Programme valued at £3.241 million to run until 31 March 2023. 

 The costs have been agreed on a matched funding basis with a Government 
contribution of £1,620,551, Combined Authority funding being £1,120,551 and 
SME matched funding of £500,000 

Timescales 

 The forecast completion of the Strategic Business Growth Programme is 
March 2023   

Assurance pathway and approval route 

Assurance pathway Approval route 

Activity 6 Change Request Recommendation: Investment Committee 
and  

Decision: Combined Authority 

Assurance tolerances 

Assurance tolerances 

That the total Combined Authority costs for the project remain within the costs outlined 
within this request 

That the programme delivery timescales remain within 3 months of those set out in this 
report 

Project responsibilities 

Senior Responsible Officer Henry Rigg – West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority 

Project Manager Neill Fishman – West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority  

Combined Authority case officer Ian Pegg – West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority  

Appraisal summary 

 The Change Request is in line with the overall business for the Strategic 
Business Growth Programme, and the proposed change will derive further 
positive outcomes for the programme, for partnership-working and for the local 
economy.  

63



   
 

   
 

Recommendations 

 The Investment Committee approves that: 

(i) The Change Request for additional funding for the Strategic Business 
Growth Programme is approved to continue to deliver until 31 March 
2023: 

 Government contribution of £1,620,551. 

 Local Growth Fund matched funding of £1,120,551. 

 SME matched funding of £500,000. 

(ii) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway 
and approval route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the 
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined within this report. 

6 Financial implications 

 The report seeks endorsement to expenditure from the available Combined 
Authority funding as set out in this report. 

7 Legal implications 

 The payment of funding to any recipient will be subject to a funding agreement 
being in place between the Combined Authority and the organisation in 
question. 

8 Staffing implications 

 A combination of Combined Authority and local Partner Council project, 
programme and portfolio management resources are or are in the process of 
being identified and costed for within the schemes in this report. 

9 External consultees 

 Where applicable scheme promoters have been consulted on the content of 
this report. 

10 Recommendations 

Huddersfield Stations Gateway package - Preparing for Transpennine 
Route Upgrade (TRU) at Huddersfield and opening up employment sites 
Scheme 

 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that 

(i) The Huddersfield Stations Gateway package proceeds through Decision 
Point 2 and work commences on Activity 3 (outline business case) 

64



   
 

   
 

(ii) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority contribution of £28 
million from the Transforming Cities Fund, with full approval to spend 
once the package has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5 (Full Business Case plus finalised costs). Total Project 
Costs are £42 million (£28 million TCF, £10 million WY+TF and £4 million 
from Kirklees Council’s Kirklees Town Centre Capital fund). 

(iii) Development costs of £99,679 are approved, to progress the scheme to 
decision point 3 (outline business case), taking the total approval to 
£0.916 million. 

(iv) The Combined Authority issue an addendum to the existing Funding 
Agreement with Kirklees Council for expenditure of up to £0.916 million 
from the Transforming Cities Fund. 

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in this report including at Decision Point 5 
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Portfolio 
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the 
tolerances outlined in this report. 

Halifax, Walking Cycling and Bus Transformation Package - North 
Halifax Cycle Super Highways, Park Ward Streets for People, Bus 
Priority 

 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:  

(i) The Halifax Walking, Cycling, Rail and Bus Transformation package 
proceeds through Decision Point 2 and work commences on Activity 3 
(outline business case) for individual schemes. 

(ii) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority contribution of £53.9 
million from the Transforming Cities Fund, with full approval to spend 
once the package has progressed through the assurance process to 
decision point 5 (Full Business Case plus finalised costs). Total Project 
Costs are £71.805 million (£53.9 million TCF, £16.5 million WY+TF, 
£405,000 CMBC and £1m LTP for Park Ward Streets for People.  

(iii) An indicative approval to the total package value of £53.9 million is given 
from the Transforming Cities Fund with Full Approval to spend being 
granted once the scheme has progressed through the Assurance 
Process to Decision Point 5. 

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in this report including at Decision Point 5 
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director 
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Portfolio 
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the 
tolerances outlined in this report. 

65



   
 

   
 

 

TCF Leeds Rail Station Sustainable Travel Gateway 

 The Investment Committee approves that: 

(i) The Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway (LSSTG) scheme 
proceeds through decision point 3 (outline business case) and work 
commences on activity 5 (full business case plus finalised costs) 

(ii) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £32.44 
million (which will be funded through £31.69 million from the 
Transforming Cities Fund, £500,000 from the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund and £250,000  from the Leeds Public Transport 
Investment Programme) is given with full approval to spend being 
granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process 
to decision point 5 (Full busines case with finalised costs). A further 
£100,000 in match funding will come from Network Rail taking the total 
project cost to £32.54 million. 

(iii) Development costs of £3.01 million are approved, to progress the 
scheme to decision point 5 (Full business case with finalised costs), 
taking the total approval to £5.094 million 

(iv) The Combined Authority issue an addendum to the existing Funding 
Agreement with Leeds City Council for expenditure of up to £5.094 
million from the Transforming Cities Fund. 

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway 
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5 
(Full business case plus finalised costs) through a delegation to the 
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
the Combined Authority’s Portfolio Appraisal Team. This will be subject to 
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

A6110/Leeds City Centre Package 

 The Investment Committee approves the Change Request which seeks 
approval of the funding strategy for the LCCP as outlined below:  

(i) The reallocation of £11 million from the A6110 Outer Ring Road (ORR) 
scheme (reducing the indicative scheme costs from £12 million to £1 
million) to the Leeds City Centre Package West Yorkshire plus Transport 
Fund programme budget, increasing the total from £66.8 million to £77.8 
million. 

(ii) Development costs of £310,000 for the A6110 Outer Ring Road scheme, 
from the revised indicative total scheme costs allocation of £1 million, to 
progress the scheme to decision point 3 (Outline Business Case), taking 
the total scheme development costs from £286,000 to £596,000. 

66



   
 

   
 

(iii) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing A6110 
scheme funding agreement with Leeds City Council to increase 
expenditure from up to £286,000 to up to £596,000 from the WY+TF. 

(iv) The reallocation of £1.5 million from Armley Gyratory WY+TF 
development costs (taking the total from £5.078 million to £3.578 million 
to progress the scheme to decision point 5 (Full Business Case plus 
finalised costs), to City Square+ taking the total development costs from 
£3.774 million to £5.274 million to progress to decision point 5 (Full 
Business Case plus finalised costs). 

(v) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing Armley 
Gyratory scheme funding agreement with Leeds City Council, to 
decrease expenditure from up to £5.078 million to up to £3.578 million 
from the WY+TF 

(vi) The Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the existing funding 
agreement with Leeds City Council for expenditure to up to £5.274   
million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund for the City Square+ 
scheme 

(vii) Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in this report, including delegation to the 
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
the Combined Authority’s Portfolio Appraisal Team. This will be subject to 
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

Beech Hill, Halifax  

 The Investment Committee approves that:  

(i) The Beech Hill Phase 1b scheme proceeds through decision point 5 (full 
business case plus finalised costs) and work commences on activity 6 
(delivery) 

(ii) Approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £797,000 funded 
from the Local Growth Fund is given. Total Project Costs for Phase 1a 
and 1b are £21.742 million; £1.4 million from previous the Local Growth 
Fund approval, £14.418 million from THA, £4.725 million Homes England 
and £402,000 CMBC. 

(iii) That the Combined Authority issue an addendum to the existing Funding 
Agreement with Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council for expenditure 
of up to £2.197 million from the Growth Deal (£1.4 million Phase 1a, 
£0.797 million Phase 1b).  

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway 
and approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by 
the Combined Authority’s Portfolio Appraisal Team. This will be subject to 
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.  

67



   
 

   
 

Strategic Business Growth  

 The Investment Committee approves that: 

(i) The Change Request for additional funding for the Strategic Business 
Growth Programme is approved to continue to deliver until 31 March 
2023: 

 Government contribution of £1,620,551. 

 Local Growth Fund matched funding of £1,120,551. 

 SME matched funding of £500,000. 

(ii) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway 
and approval route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the 
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined within this report. 

11 Background documents 

 None as part of this report.  

12 Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Background to assurance framework  

Appendix 2 - Huddersfield Stations Gateway package – summary business 
case 

Appendix 3 - Halifax, Walking Cycling and Bus Transformation Package – 
summary business case  

Appendix 4 – TCF Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway – summary 
business case  

Appendix 5 – Beech Hill, Halifax – summary business case  

68



 

 

Appendix 1 (Background to the report) 

Subject:   Capital Spending and Project Approvals  
 

Information 

 This report puts forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a 
number of schemes for approval by the Combined Authority, following 
consideration by the West Yorkshire and York’s Investment Committee. The 
Combined Authority will recall that a three stage approach has been 
introduced as part of an enhancement to current project management 
arrangements, with the requirement that all projects subject to minor 
exceptions as detailed in the assurance framework, will as a minimum, need to 
formally pass decision point 2 (case paper approval) and 5 (final cost 
approval) highlighted below, with the requirement to meet the intervening 
activities deemed on a project by project basis. 

 

 The Programme Appraisal Team (PAT) appraises all schemes at the decision 
points. The PAT consists of an independent panel of officers representing 
policy, legal, financial, assurance and delivery. The scheme promoters from 
our partner councils or partner delivery organisations attend the meeting to 
introduce the scheme and answer questions from the panel.  The terms of 
reference for the PAT are contained within the Leeds City Region Assurance 
Framework. 

Future assurance and approval route 

 The tables for each scheme in the main report outlines the proposed 
assurance process and corresponding approval route for the scheme. The 
assurance pathway sets out the decision points which the scheme must 
progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of the scheme. The 
approval route indicates which committees or officers will make both a 
recommendation and approval of the scheme at each decision point. A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has 
received prior approval from the Combined Authority.  

  

69

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



  
 
  

 Tolerances 

 In order for the scheme to follow the assurance pathway and approval route 
that is proposed in this report, it should remain within the tolerances outlined 
for each scheme. If these tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to 
return to Investment Committee and/or the Combined Authority for further 
consideration.  

 

70



Section A: Package Summary 

 

Name of Package: 
Huddersfield Stations Gateway package - Preparing for 
Transpennine Route Upgrade (TRU) at Huddersfield and 
opening up employment sites 

Location of Package:  Huddersfield Town Centre 

PMA Code: DFT-TCF-015 

Lead Organisation: Kirklees Council  

Senior Responsible 
Officer:  

Angela Blake, Service Director - Economy and Skills, Kirklees 
Council 

Lead Promoter Contact: Keith Bloomfield, Kirklees Council 

Combined Authority 
Lead/ Programme 
Manager: 

Fiona Limb, West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

Case Officer: Alpha Thiam, West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

Applicable Funding 
Stream(s) – Grant or 
Loan: 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

Growth Fund Priority 
Area (if applicable): 

Priority 3 (Clean energy and environmental resilience) 

Priority 4 (Infrastructure for growth) 

Combined Authority 
approvals to date: 

Decision Point 1 – Strategic Assessment Review 2 September 2020 

Forecasted Completion 
Date  

31 March 2023 

Total package Cost for 
the preferred way forward 
(£): 

£42 million  

WYCA Funding (£): 
TCF Funding: £28 million (secured)  

West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund: £10 million (secured)  

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

Kirklees Town Centre Capital: £4 million (secured) 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

£0  

 

A.1 Package Description  

71

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



The Huddersfield Stations Gateway package aims to improve transport links between local areas 
and the town centre, improve access to the bus and rail station, so it is easier for people to 
navigate their way across the town centre between the two stations, improve access within the 
stations and increase station capacity.    

The package consists three stand-alone schemes, which will progress individually through the 
Combined Authority’s assurance process: 

Access to places  

1. Huddersfield cycling and walking improvements  

 Trinity Street foot/cycle bridge – a new bridge over the inner ring road (IRR) 
(Castlegate) at the Trinity Crossing, to improve the quality and capacity of crossing the 
IRR at Trinity Street.  Other options are also being appraised and being developed in 
parallel, including upgrades to the existing surface crossing and underpass  

 Walking and cycling gateway access – major improvements to the quality and safety of 
the walking and cycling route between east Huddersfield districts, the rail station and other 
key town centre destinations. Includes improvements to public spaces to increase the 
attractiveness of the walking and cycling routes and town centre  

Hubs and interchange 

2. Huddersfield Bus Station improvements  

 Huddersfield Bus Station upgrade – upgrade of the bus station building, including 
access improvements for entry to the bus station and inside the station, improvements to 
the main entrance and improving the attractiveness of public spaces next to the station  

1. Huddersfield Rail Station access  

 Cycle and taxi hub and High Speed 2 (HS2) park and ride – creation of a new cycle 
hub, with changing and locker facilities, next to Huddersfield Rail Station car park, to 
accommodate increased demand from cyclists. Creation of new taxi hub in the car park to 
the north east of the railway station to make walking access to the station through St 
George’s Square easier for pedestrians and measures to create park and ride car spaces 
within St George’s Warehouse car park  

 Connection of the railway station to St George’s Warehouse – an additional eastern 
entrance at the station by re-opening an historic doorway, highway improvements and 
acquisition of the warehouse and car park 

 Subway extension and new western rail station entrance – extension to the existing 
rail station subway with a new western entrance linking the rail station with the St 
George’s Warehouse site. This proposal will primarily be funded by the £5 million West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund contribution 

The scheme is closely linked to the objectives of the Transpennine Route Upgrade (TRU) 
programme, which proposes improvements that will  deliver a high performing, reliable railway for 
passengers with more seats, more trains and faster journeys between Manchester and York via 
Huddersfield and Leeds and the HS2 Connectivity Strategy.  

The Transforming Cities Fund will significantly expand on the Growth Deal and West Yorkshire 
plus Transport Fund investments, to create an easy to use town centre transport hub.  

The scheme outputs and benefits include 

 Improved access to and connectivity between Huddersfield Rail Station, Huddersfield Bus 
Station, the town centre, colleges, and suburbs / outlying villages  

 Reduced carbon emissions and improved air quality because of the increased use of 
sustainable modes (bus, rail, cycling and walking) to travel to, from and around the town 
centre  

 Enabling inclusive growth by connecting more people to opportunities and opening access 
to jobs, services, and the wider economy  

72



 Bus user benefits relating to journey time savings and improved passenger experience for 
new and existing bus users 

 Revenue benefits from regenerated retail floorspace in Huddersfield Bus Station and the 
likely generation of additional jobs 

 Better access to education and employment, leisure, and retail  

 Potential reduction in CO2 emissions due to the installation of energy efficient facilities as 
part of the redevelopment of Huddersfield Bus Station 

A.2 Business Case Summary 

Strategic Case  

The package takes into consideration the Transforming Cities Fund programme vision ‘Connecting 
people to economic and education opportunities through affordable, sustainable transport, 
boosting productivity and helping to create cleaner, healthier and happier communities for the 
future’ 

The scheme is aligned with the two following Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan 2035 
(SEP) Priority Areas: 

Priority 3: Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience 

By encouraging more people to travel by bus, train, bike or walking this package has the potential 
to reduce harmful emissions resulting in an improvement in air quality as well as positively 
contributing towards the carbon reduction targets set for the City Region and Kirklees district.  

Priority 4: Infrastructure for Growth 

The proposed package will utilise and complement the full potential of the expected Transpennine 
Route Upgrade programme.   

The package will also provide better conditions for rail-bus interchange and help to create easier 
journeys thereby contributing to the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy (WYTS) targets for bus use 
and rail journeys. This will in turn support employment opportunities in Huddersfield and the wider 
City Region.  

Economic Case 

Based on the wider TCF objectives, a set of seven scheme objectives have been developed.  A 
series of potential interventions was developed to generate a long list, which has been appraised 
using a Multi-Criteria Appraisal Tool to score the schemes against objectives.   

Quantifiable benefits of the scheme include: 

 Positive health benefits as more people are encouraged to cycle and walk as a result of 
package interventions, reducing absenteeism and risk of mortality.  Other benefits which 
may accrue as a result of increased levels of active travel including noise, greenhouse gas 
and air quality benefits 

 Bus user benefits relating to journey time savings and improved passenger experience for 
new and existing bus users 

 Other highway user benefits arising from the Trinity Street Bridge, resulting in reduced 
waiting times for highway users at pedestrian crossings on the Inner Ring Road 

 Marginal external costs in terms of congestion, accidents and air quality  

Commercial Case 

Huddersfield Town Centre is identified within the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan 
(SEP) as a spatial priority area; specifically identified as a ‘strategic urban growth centre’. 
 

73



Investment in the proposed package is necessary to deliver the improvements required to enhance 
the role of Huddersfield Bus Station and Huddersfield Rail Station as strategically important 
transport gateways, providing connectivity and access to opportunities within the town and wider 
City Region. The improvements will also have a regenerative effect on the area immediately 
surrounding the stations, notably at St George’s Quarter and in the town centre. This will increase 
business confidence in the area and facilitate inclusive growth.  
 
The package will contribute to local and regional economic growth ambitions and unlock land for 
development, through providing improved sustainable transport links, locally and for cross 
boundary commuting trips. The package will provide a 21st century transport system and will 
accommodate and support delivery of TRU and HS2 and the associated forecast growth in 
passenger numbers.  

 

Financial Case 

The total cost for the Huddersfield Stations Gateway TCF package under the High TCF investment 
scenario is £42 million. In addition to the TCF allocation of £28 million, the scheme has secured 
local match funding contribution of £4 million towards the bus station package from the Kirklees 
Town Centre Capital programme and £10 million from West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 
(WY+TF – Huddersfield Station Gateway Phase 1 and 2). Current scheme costs are being 
reviewed and updated costs will be brought forward at the next design stage. 

Management Case  

A TCF programme board has been established, providing strategic and monitoring oversight. The 
portfolio board will manage the risk and contingency budget for the programme,  

The programme board includes representation from the Combined Authority, partner council 
officers for each scheme within this package and where relevant, representation from the bus and 
rail operators. Membership and terms of reference were determined after submission of the TCF 
programme Strategic Outline Case.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

74



Location Map  

The following location map shows the location of the Huddersfield Stations Gateway 

package: 

 

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development, the location and scope 

of the schemes indicated here are indicative only.  

For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City 

Region please refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-

economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/  

75

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Section A: Package Summary 

 

Name of Package: 
Halifax, Walking Cycling and Bus Transformation Package - North 
Halifax Cycle Super Highways, Park Ward Streets for People, Bus 
Priority 

Location of Package:  Calderdale, North and Central Halifax 

PMA Code: DFT-TCF-010 

Lead Organisation: Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council (CMBC) 

Senior Responsible 
Officer:  

Steven Lee (CMBC) 

Lead Promoter Contact: Tom Jones (CMBC) 

Combined Authority 
Lead/ Programme 
Manager: 

Dave Haskins, West Yorkshire Combined Authority  

Case Officer: Alpha Thiam, West Yorkshire Combined Authority  

Applicable Funding 
Stream(s) – Grant or 
Loan: 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

Growth Fund Priority 
Area (if applicable): 

Priority 3 (Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience) 

Priority 4 (Infrastructure for growth)   

Combined Authority 
approvals to date: 

Decision point 1 Approval – 9 September 2019 

Forecasted Completion 
Date  

This package is made of five individual schemes with different 
completion dates 

 Halifax Bus Station - October 2022 

 Halifax Rail Station Gateway - March 2023 (TCF element) & 
December 2024 (West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 
(WY+TF) element) 

 North Halifax Active Travel - March 2023 

 Park Ward Streets for People - March 2023  

 West Halifax Bus Efficiency - March 2023 

Total package Cost for 
the preferred way forward 
(£): 

£71.805 million  

WYCA Funding (£): 
Transforming Cities Fund - £53.9 million (high cost scenario)  

Local Transport Plan – Park Ward Streets for People  - £1 million  

77

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3



West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund - £16.5 million (for Halifax 
Station Gateway part of the package) 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

£405,000 match funding from CMBC 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

£0 

 

A.1 Package Description  

The package is comprised of five interrelated schemes, which will improve transport facilities in 
and around Halifax, through individual schemes at Halifax Bus Station and Halifax Rail Station. It 
will also include active mode (cycling and walking) infrastructure and improvements to bus 
connectivity between the town centre and the north and north west of the town centre.  

The five schemes are at various stages of development and at various stages within the Combined 
Authority’s assurance process. This strategic outline case brings together all five schemes as one 
package: 

 Halifax Bus Station - Full Business Case (FBC) 

 Halifax Rail Station Gateway -Outline Business Case (OBC) 

 North Halifax Active Travel – Strategic Outline Case (SOC) 

 Park Ward Streets for People - Strategic Outline Case (SOC) 

 West Halifax Bus Efficiency Strategic Outline Case (SOC) 

Halifax Rail Station is an important gateway situated between key destinations and employment 
sites, including the Nestlé plant. The rail station also performs a key role for visitors arriving in the 
town to visit attractions including the Piece Hall. The emerging production / film industry is also 
bringing high value jobs to Calderdale.   

Halifax Bus Station is located further north in the town centre and is a key hub for buses in 
Calderdale, with over 50 First services operating from the bus station.  Interchange between the 
bus and rail stations, where passengers travel by bus to the town centre to access rail services to 
continue their journey and vice versa is poor due to a lack of facilities at the stations and routes 
between the two stations are disjointed, involving road crossings and other barriers.  

The primary issues and challenges relating to transport which this package seeks to address are:   

 Barriers caused by the A58 and A629 which impede access to the town centre from North 
Halifax and Park ward and surrounding communities.  

 Improve connectivity by public transport, cycling and walking between areas including 
North Halifax and Park Ward which have high levels of deprivation and unemployment, to 
provide better access to the town centre for employment, leisure and retail and onward 
travel to the wider City Region, t. Improve bus availability, reliability, journey times and 
connectivity in west Halifax and parts of north Halifax  

 Increase use of sustainable modes of travel to address poor access to Halifax Bus and 
Rail stations 

 Increase levels of walking and cycling within Halifax  

 Improve safety for all users at Halifax Bus and Rail stations  

 Modernise the bus station to improve facilities   

 Improve the attractiveness of streets and public spaces in Halifax 

 Enhance sustainable travel options (bus, rail, cycling and walking) to serve new housing 
and employment developments in north and west Halifax 

78



 Existing barriers to travel including poor multimodal interchange (for example passengers 
travelling by bus to the town centre to access rail services to complete their journey) poor 
information about services, facilities available for passengers to wait for services to 
arrive/depart and safety/accessibility issues 

The package comprises of five interrelated schemes, which will improve transport facilities in and 
around Halifax addressing the challenges identified above. The schemes are at different stages of 
business case development, as outlined below. This Strategic Outline Case brings together all five 
schemes as one package. 

 Halifax Bus Station (Full Business Case plus finalised costs) – The scheme will include 
creating a modern, fully accessible bus station which reduces barriers to travel and 
creates a better and safer waiting environment. The bus station design will incorporate 
energy and carbon saving features and will support smoother integration between different 
transport modes. The bus station will also have electric bus charging, cycle parking, 
electric bike charging and better travel information with links to rail real time information.  

 Halifax Rail Station Gateway (Full Business Case) - The scheme will include creating a 
multi modal (bus, train, cycling and walking) transport interchange, a new footbridge 
between the rail station and the town centre, an underpass for walkers and cyclists 
beneath the station, in conjunction with an extension to the Hebble Trail for other cycling 
and walking routes and a revised car park layout including accessibility measures and 
electric vehicle charging.  

 North Halifax Active Travel (Strategic Outline Case) - The scheme will create cycle links 
from the town centre towards Mixenden, Ovenden and Illingworth and create greater 
space for walking within residential areas of Ovenden and Holmfield.  

 Park Ward Streets for People (Strategic Outline Case) - The scheme will include walking 
improvements to address barriers Park Ward residents’ experience when accessing the 
town centre and community led improvements to public spaces within Park Ward.  

 West Halifax Bus Efficiency (Strategic Outline Case) - The scheme will improve journey 
times for residents from areas of high deprivation, with bus priority measures at known 
hotspots which cause delays.    

79



 

A.2 Business Case Summary 

Strategic Case  

Priority 1: Growing Business  

Target: The package of improvements will make the region more resilient. It will support the future 
plans for employment and housing growth across the district (through Calderdale’s Local Plan) and 
the associated increase in travel demand to the town centre by bus, rail and by active modes 
(cycling and walking) from nearby areas. With a more productive workforce, because of improved 
health outcomes, businesses can grow.  

Priority 2: Skilled People, Better Jobs  

Targets include: the improvements to walking and cycling infrastructure in addition to bus priority 
measures as part of the package will ensure that areas of deprivation to the north and west of 
Halifax are better connected to employment, education and training opportunities by sustainable 
modes. The bus and rail station also play a key role in connecting those Not in Employment, 
Education or Training (NEETs) to opportunities outside Halifax. Allowing for interchange between 
rail and bus services to link people to better, higher paid job opportunities, either within Calderdale, 
the wider City Region or to other nearby economic centres such as Manchester.  

Priority 3: Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience  

The package contributes to the Leeds City Region European Structural and Investment Fund 
(ESIF) Strategy around supporting a transformed transport network, which enables widening of 
access, delivering access to high quality natural and manmade public spaces Making efficient use 
of resources and transitioning to a low carbon economy.   

Priority 4: Infrastructure for Growth  

Within Halifax there are several housing and employment growth sites allocated as part of the 
Local Plan with additional larger sites to the north and south of the town centre including 
Boothtown, Illingworth, Mixenden and Ovenden. This package will improve connectivity and 

80



therefore access to the town centre for employment, retail and leisure and onward travel to 
destinations beyond Halifax from the bus and rail station, for residents in these areas.  

Economic Case 

The interventions proposed in this Strategic Outline Case were derived from historical work from 
other scheme development, including Halifax Bus Station and Halifax Station Gateway and the 
Calderdale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, in addition to several smaller studies 
undertaken for the North Halifax Active Travel and West Halifax Bus Efficiency schemes. 
Together, these individual interventions formed the long list.  

The respective long lists derived for the five schemes were subject to a sifting exercise through an 
approved Multi Criteria Assessment Toolkit (MCAT) to inform a final shortlisted package of 
interventions. Each intervention from the long lists was scored against the package objectives and 
Critical Success Factors (CSFs) (buildability and deliverability), scoring them on a seven-point 
scale from large disbenefit (-3) to large benefit (3). 

In addition, there are also likely to be wider economic benefits, because of the package, related to 
productivity, air quality and social inclusion. 

Commercial Case 

CMBC, supported by its technical partners, has significant experience in the development, design, 
construction, and management of both strategic highway improvements for bus priority and 
walking and cycling infrastructure in Calderdale. Similarly, the Combined Authority has a strong 
track record in delivering transport projects across West Yorkshire, along with excellent project 
management systems and skills. CMBC and the Combined Authority are well placed to deliver the 
facilities, and their commercial procurement and delivery on time and within budget.  

It is anticipated that the Halifax Bus Station Transforming Cities Fund scheme will be amalgamated 
with the wider Halifax Bus Station scheme, currently being led by the Combined Authority, on 
approval of this SOC. Assuming this is achieved, the TCF proposals will then be included as part 
of the upcoming Full Business Case plus finalised costs where the preferred procurement option 
will be reported. The Halifax Rail Station Gateway Transforming Cities Fund scheme is proposed 
to be integrated into the wider procurement approaches of the Halifax Station Gateway project, 
currently being led by CMBC.  

Financial Case 

CMBC are applying for full funding from the Department for Transport’s (DFT) Transforming Cities 
Fund (TCF).  

Costs for the Halifax Bus Station and Halifax Rail Station Gateway are those calculated as part of 
their respective business cases and are therefore unlikely to change.  

Costs for the other three schemes will be updated at the next stage (OBC). The indicative costs for 
the shortlisted options are:  

 Do-Minimum = £38,798,540  

 Do-Something = £44,448,587  

 Do-Maximum = £54,830,030  

The Do-Minimum, Do-Something and Do-Maximum package options are all reliant on TCF 
funding.  

Other funding streams include CMBC match funding for the Halifax Bus Station which has already 
been secured and spent whilst £10.6 million of funding for the Halifax Rail Station Gateway 
scheme is being sought from West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund, subject to a separate 
application to the Combined Authority.  The remaining amount of funding is sought from TCF. The 
North Halifax Active Travel, Park Ward Streets for People and West Halifax Bus Efficiency 
schemes all rely on 100% TCF funding.  

81



Taking the above into consideration, the Do-Maximum option has been approved through 
Transforming Cities Fund and Gain Share. 

In a scenario post Strategic Outline Case (SOC) submission, where the funding allocation does not 
cover full costs, there will be a programme level re-prioritisation to identify which schemes will 
need to be de-scoped and if applicable, this will apply to this Halifax package.  

Management Case  

The Combined Authority will have overall responsibility and accountability for any TCF funding 
released by DfT. CMBC has the project management system, skills, and track record to be able to 
deliver the package successfully. They will be supported by an assigned Project Manager from the 
Combined Authority. CMBC has robust financial monitoring systems and procurement credentials 
as demonstrated by many years of delivering externally funded projects and including 
highway/transport schemes.  

Whilst the five schemes that comprise the ‘Halifax Walking, Cycling, Rail and Bus Transformation 
Package’ have a relationship to one another, they are not interdependent and could be delivered 
individually. However, there are linkages and interdependencies between the individual schemes 
with other projects in the area including the A629 Phase 2 and Phase 4, A629 Corridor 
Improvement Plan (CIP) and Streets for People amongst others. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

82



 

Location Map  

The following location map shows the location of the Halifax, Walking Cycling and 

Bus Transformation package: 

 

 

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development, the location and scope 

of the schemes indicated here are indicative only.  

For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City 

Region please refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-

economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map  

 

83

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map


This page is intentionally left blank



Section A: Scheme Summary 

 

Name of scheme: Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway 

PMO scheme code: DFT-TCF-024.1a 

Lead organisation: Leeds City Council 

Senior responsible 
officer:  

Martin Farrington – Leeds City Council 

Lead promoter contact: Chloe Dummer – Leeds City Council 

Case officer: Ian McNichol – Combined Authority 

 

Applicable funding 
stream(s) – Grant or 
Loan: 

Grant 

Growth Fund Priority 
Area (if applicable): 

n/a 

 

Approvals to date: - 

Forecasted full approval 
date (decision point 5): 

30 April 2021 

Forecasted completion 
date (decision point 6): 

31 December 2022 

 

Total scheme cost (£): £32.54 million 

Combined Authority 
funding (£): 

£32.44 million 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

0 

Total other private 
sector investment (£): 

£100,000 

 

Is this a standalone 
project? 

no 

Is this a programme? no 

Is this project part of an 
agreed programme? 

Yes  

 

 

85

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 4



Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 

 

Scheme description: 

Leeds Station is the busiest rail station in the North of England and of national 
importance. Network Rail’s market studies suggest passenger numbers will increase by 81% 
by 2043.  High Speed 2 (HS2), Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) and major upgrades to Trans-
Pennine routes and services drive these capacity ambitions as do projected increases in 
demand for the existing station. By redeveloping the station to improve access to and from 
Leeds Rail Station, there is an opportunity to create a gateway that drives the economic growth 
and regeneration of Leeds City Centre and the wider Leeds City Region. 
 
The Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway scheme is a key component of the LISM and 
will ensure that economic growth is sustainable by making it easier for people to get to Leeds 
Rail Station from the city centre and the surrounding communities, with the package delivering  
improvements within the immediate city centre area and linking into communities outside the  
city centre.   

Central to this scheme is the development of a multi-modal transport hub which is accessible 
to all and connects key areas of the city, promoting the use of sustainable travel opportunities 
and improving links to the wider City Region. This will be achieved by facilitating a smooth 
transition between rail travel and onward pedestrian, cycling, taxi and bus routes. 

The proposal to redevelop Bishopgate will constitute the following key components: 

 Create pedestrian priority areas on New Station Street through the relocation of the taxi 
rank to Bishopgate Street and bus stops to locations on Boar Lane, Infirmary Street and 
Wellington Street (these areas have been upgraded and capacity increased for 
pedestrians and buses as part of the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme, 
City Centre Package and West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund schemes). Service 
deliveries will be time managed to avoid peak pedestrian flows. Emergency vehicle 
access will remain as existing.  

 Provide significant improvements to the accessibility of the station and create additional 
options for step-free access for passengers, resulting in a more direct route into the 
station and shortened journey times for passengers (currently, disabled passengers 
have to use the rear and side entrances at significant additional journey distance).   

 Complete re-design and re-build of the station’s external concourse connecting 
Bishopgate and key pedestrian access routes via a series of wide steps with 
complementary soft landscaping and seating where possible. 

 Installation of two, 21-person pedestrian lifts connecting Bishopgate and the station 
entrance.   

 Installation of segregated cycle lanes through Neville Street, Dark Neville Street and 
Victoria Road.   

 Installation of a high quality 700 space cycle hub with supporting infrastructure for 
electric bikes. The cycle hub is currently proposed to include a commercial café and 
opportunities exist for Network Rail to seek a commercial partner for the operation of 
this venture.   

86



 Environmental improvements to the cladding, road and pedestrian surfaces and lighting 
in Neville Street and Dark Neville Street. 

 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case There are growing problems associated with the existing station that, if left 

unattended, will escalate and start to limit growth the increase in passenger 

numbers predicted materialises. With a population of 3.06 million, the 

Leeds City Region is a diverse economy made up of major cities, towns 

and countryside which all have distinctive economic roles and priorities.   

Leeds is an attractive place to live, however, as the population has 

increased, transport congestion and air quality have become major 

constraints on inclusive growth and have a negative impact on health.  The 

scheme will support mode shift from private car to sustainable active travel 

(cycling and walking) to help reduce carbon emissions. There is a specific 

scheme objective to improve air quality in the immediate vicinity of Leeds 

Station, with measurable reductions in nitrogen dioxide (NO2) on 

Bishopgate Street and Dark Neville Street following completion of the 

scheme. Further work to establish the climate change implications of the 

scheme will be undertaken as it progresses through the assurance 

process. 

Leeds Station is predicted to reach capacity between 2023 and 2026. The 
number of passengers is expected to increase by 81% by 2043.  The South 
Bank development, the largest regeneration project in Europe, will place 
additional pressure on the capacity and functionality of the station due to 
the estimated creation of 35,000 new jobs and 8,000 new homes in the 
south of the city 

There are growing market failures associated with the existing station, that 

include:  

 Poor connections to strategic areas of the city and the Leeds City 
Region.    

 Restricted pedestrian movement outside the station entrance.   

 Lack of walking and cycling prioritised routes within the city.   

 Poor accessibility at the station.   

 Increasing carbon emissions around the vicinity of the station.   

 Poor representation of Leeds as a city, as for many people entering 
the city for the first time, the station is the first thing they see and 
subsequently define the impression they have on Leeds.   

 Does not positively contribute to aspirations of the city, with its 
current congestion levels and lack of public space.  

The scheme will aim to address a number of key strategic drivers for the 
Leeds City Region, these include: 

 Persistent poverty and stalled living standards 

 Transport impacting access to jobs and training  

 Productivity gap 

 Transport constraining growth 

 Sustainable travel is not the obvious choice 

 Need to decarbonise the transport network 

87



 Growing demand for cycling 

 Pedestrian and cycling connectivity to developing areas of Leeds   

 Access to education and training  

The Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway contributes to the 
following national, regional and local strategies: 

 National Industrial Strategy 

 Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS) 

 Transport for the North Strategic Transport Plan and Independent 

 Economic Review 

 Local Industrial Strategy 

 Strategic Economic Framework 

 Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan 

 Inclusive Growth Strategic Framework 

 Leeds City Region High Speed 2 Growth and Connectivity 
Strategies 

 Leeds City Region Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan 

 Leeds City Region Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy 

 Leeds City Region Housing Vision 

 Leeds City Region Strategic Economic 

 West Yorkshire Transport Strategy 2040 

 West Yorkshire Bus Strategy 

 West Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy 

 North Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 

 York Local Transport Plan 

Consultation has already taken place with a wide range of stakeholders 
including the Accessibility User Group, bus operators, taxi operators, 
cycling groups, station users and businesses.   

Commercial 
Case 

The Leeds Station Integrated Masterplan (LISM) was approved in 

December 2017 and sets out the vision for delivering a major 

transformation of Leeds Station and supporting the economic growth of the 

city and wider city region.    

With the delivery of the HS2 and NPR programmes, passenger numbers 
are expected to grow by 81% by 2043.  This is phenomenal growth for the 
city and will put the station under severe capacity pressures, especially as 
Leeds only has a single city centre station.  

The Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway scheme is necessary as it 
will provide more space for passengers to move around the station making 
entry to and from the station safer.  

Whilst this scheme is part of LISM and funded by the Transforming Cities 
Fund, it also forms part of a wider programme of transformational transport 
projects to be delivered by Leeds City Council. The programme, termed 
MBARC, encompasses works at Meadow Lane, Bishopgate (this project), 
Armley Gyratory, Regent Street and City Square. Together, these projects 
aim to reduce vehicle movements within the city centre and contribute 
towards the Council achieving its climate ambitions. 

Balfour Beatty will undertake the role of main contractor for each contract 
under the MBARC programme.   

88



Economic Case A long list of potential options for the station improvement were 

developed by Leeds City Council through a series of workshops. A high-

level assessment of these options, led to the preferred way forward, 

which is  the re-design and redevelopment of the approaches to the main 

Leeds Station entrance.  

The rationale for the selection has been captured in a multi criteria 

appraisal (the “Option Assessment Tool”) that considers how well each 

option meets: 

 Critical Success Factors  

 Scheme specific objectives 

 TCF objectives 

 Feasibility 

 Desirability 

Each option was then assessed against whether they supported each of 

seven scheme specific objectives, summarised as follows: 

 Improve air quality in the immediate vicinity of Leeds Station 

 Enhance Leeds Station's role as a welcoming and attractive 

gateway to the city 

 Improve pedestrian flows and reduce barriers between the city 

centre and the station 

 Improve accessibility and enhanced options for step-free access 

to Leeds Station 

 Support and facilitate forecast growth in rail passenger numbers  

 Support mode shift to sustainable modes and away from the 

private car to help reduce carbon emissions  

 Support and facilitate the on-going redevelopment and 
regeneration of the city centre and South Bank  

The short list of options was appraised using cost benefit analysis following 
the guidance and principles set out in the Department for Transport’s (DfT), 
Transport Analysis Guidance   

The scheme presents a ‘core’ benefit cost ratio of 2.7 which puts the 
scheme in the High value for money (VFM) category when assessed using 
the DfT’s Transport Appraisal Guidance (TAG).  

Financial Case The total capital cost for the Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway 
project is £32.54 million.  This includes: 

 Pedestrianisation of the entire length of New Station Street 

 Installation of two x 21-person passenger lifts from New Station 
Street to Bishopgate  

 Relocation of the taxi rank from New Station Street to Bishopgate 
including associated highways amendments on Swinegate to 
accommodate the feeder ranks 

 Improve step free access options at the station  

 Installation of a new 700 space cycle hub 

89



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Installation of segregated cycle lanes on Neville Street and 
Bishopgate  

 Environmental improvements to Neville Street and Dark Neville 
Street including replacement of lighting and road surface materials  

The construction works will predominately take place on Network Rail 
owned land, consequently the assets created will be handed over to 
Network Rail for management and maintenance following completion. 

Minor works will be undertaken on Leeds City Council owned land therefore 

costs associated with the maintenance of these assets will be borne by 

Leeds City Council. 

Management 
Case 

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority will be the accountable body for 

the Transforming Cities Fund for Leeds City Region  

A programme board was established in August 2019, including senior 

representative from all partners to the bid and has an agreed Terms of 

Reference. The Combined Authority will also set up thematic programme 

boards, with clear and accountable Senior Responsible Officers, 

programme teams and project manager(s). 

Within Leeds City Council the scheme will report to the Station Programme 

Board, which oversees all station work streams including HS2, NPR and 

existing station. An additional project board will also be established 

specifically for this scheme.  

90



 

 

 

 

Location Map  

The following location map shows the location of the Leeds Rail Station Sustainable 

Travel Gateway scheme: eds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway 

 

 

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development, the location and scope 

of the schemes indicated here are indicative only.  

For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City 

Region please refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-

economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/  

91

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/


This page is intentionally left blank



Section A: Scheme Summary 

 

Name of scheme: Beech Hill, Halifax 

PMO scheme code: GD-PA4-024 

Lead organisation: Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council (CMBC) 

Senior responsible 
officer:  

Heidi Wilson, CMBC, Strategic Housing Delivery Manager 

Lead promoter contact: Fern Petrovic, CMBC, Housing Project Manager 

Richard Armitage, CMBC, Housing Enabling and Projects 
Manager 

Case officer: Vicky Dumbrell, West Yorkshire Combined Authority  

 

Applicable funding 
stream(s) – Grant or 
Loan: 

Grant - Growth Deal  

Growth Fund Priority 
Area (if applicable): 

Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) Priority 4 - Infrastructure for 
Growth.    

 

Approvals to date: 

Combined Authority approval 10 May 2018 - the Beech Hill 
project proceeds through decision point 4 and work commences 
on activity 5 (full business case with finalised costs).  

Conditional approval also given to the total project value of £5.4 
million (which includes a £1.4 million contribution from the 
Combined Authority’s Growth Deal Fund with full approval to 
spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through 
the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case 
with finalised costs) 

Forecasted full approval 
date (decision point 5): 

7 October 2020 

Forecasted completion 
date (decision point 6): 

30 November 2022 

 

Total scheme cost (£): £21.742 million 

Combined Authority 
funding (£): 

£2.197 million 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

Together Housing Association (THA) is contributing £14.418 
million  

Homes England is contributing £4.725 million  

CMBC is contributing £402,000    

93

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 5



Total other private 
sector investment (£): 

n/a 

 

Is this a standalone 
project? 

No 

Is this a programme? No 

Is this project part of an 
agreed programme? 

No 

 

Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 

 

Scheme Description: 

The Beech Hill scheme is part of the Combined Authority’s Housing and Regeneration 
Programme and aligns with Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) Priority 4 - Infrastructure for 
Growth.   

The regeneration of the site is a joint venture partnership between Calderdale Metropolitan 
Borough Council (CMBC) and Together Housing Association (THA). Calderdale Together 
Housing Investment Partnership (CTHIP) is a strategic partnership between CMBC and THA 
to deliver a minimum 500 homes over five years across Calderdale.  

The Combined Authority’s contribution to this scheme, will fund remediation work (removal of 
pollution or contaminants from land) only, to enable homes to be constructed.  

The Beech Hill estate lies on the western edge of Halifax Town Centre, close to a range of 
services, facilities, and transport links.  It is a mixed-use area, which previously housed three 
vacant tower blocks and a former council depot. 

The overall scheme will accelerate housing delivery by unlocking underused brownfield land 
to deliver ambitious housing plans and will lever in other private/public investment, on a site 
that would otherwise have poor viability due to the level of contamination and infrastructure 
works required.  

The scheme aims to  

 Transform and regenerate a deprived area of Halifax which is disproportionately 

affected by lower income, educational attainment, and residents with no qualifications 

in comparison to Calderdale as a whole  

 Construct 105 new homes on a remediated brownfield site, which if left undeveloped, 
would have further deteriorated and blighted the area. The vacant tower blocks and 
old depot have been removed, with the spoil created through demolition being 
retained on site and used within the remediation works. The houses will be owned 
and managed by THA and all available at affordable rents by the end of 2022 

 Provide housing to cater for a range of needs and sizes of homes for families  

94



 Create 150 full time equivalent construction jobs provided through the demolition, 
remediation and construction; resulting in £9 million net additional Gross Value Added 
(GVA) within the City Region 

 Support the sustainability of Halifax Town Centre, local shops and services, given the 
proximity of the area to the town centre  

 Provide a cycleway linking the site to the town centre and with wider communities to 
the north of Halifax. 

 Remediate and bring back into use 2.7 hectares of brownfield land.  

The scheme has been split into two phases, phase 1a and 1b.  In June 2018, the Combined 
Authority approved £1.4 million from the Local Growth Fund for phase 1a, to contribute 
towards asbestos removal and demolition works across the site, including the removal of 
vacant tower blocks and a council depot.  A further £797,000 from the Local Growth Fund is 
available for phase 1b, to fund land remediation, to remove contamination from the land and 
infrastructure construction to prepare for the building of 105 new homes.  

The Full Business Case plus finalised costs (FBC+) is now seeking approval for the 
Combined Authority’s remaining contribution of £797,000 for phase 1b, to be funded from the 
Local Growth Fund.  If approved, the Combined Authority’s contribution will total £2.197 
million towards the indicative total scheme cost of £21.742 million. 

THA is contributing £14.418 million towards the total scheme costs, Homes England are 
contributing £4.725 million and CMBC are contributing £402,000.    

 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case Transformational change of Beech Hill is identified as a CMBC spatial 
priority. The site is identified in the Halifax Town Centre Delivery Plan 
2014. The buildings and land at Beech Hill have potential to meet a range 
of housing needs. Parts of the Beech Hill area have been unused or in 
poor condition for many years now and action is required to realise the 
area’s potential and utilise this underused resource.  

The Calderdale Strategic Housing Market Assessment  2018, identifies 
that 1,001 new homes need to be delivered every year up to 2035 in 
order to meet the housing needs of the Borough. The Beech Hill scheme 
will deliver 105 of these.  

Commercial 
Case 

The scheme will unlock a sustainable development site, on the edge of 
the town centre to help support Calderdale’s housing shortage and 
relieve these housing pressures.   

The Market Demand Evidence Paper provided the evidence to justify the 
project and the need for change. This pulled together information from 
key market assessment and viability documents submitted to the 
Combined Authority as part of the Full Business Case approved by the 
Combined Authority on 6 July 2018. These further substantiated the need 
and request for the level of public investment.   

More recently independent surveyors, Bramleys, has provided THA with 
an independent land/market evaluation that strongly advises against 
shared ownership at this location leading to a shift to deliver 100% 
affordable homes for rent.   

Economic Case This bid addresses market failure by opening up and reusing brownfield 
sites for the provision of modern desirable housing of which there is an 
acute shortage. This development will boost the look and feel of the town 

95



 

  

centre and increase its attractiveness as a place to live. 

Financial Case In June 2018, the Combined Authority approved £1.4 million from the 
Growth Deal towards the total cost of the demolition work of £6.668 
million (Phase 1a). A further contribution of £797,000, to be funded from 
the Growth Deal, is now sought, towards the cost of £1.519 million of the 
abnormal remediation and infrastructure elements of phase 1b. If 
approved, the Combined Authority contribution will total £2.197 million 
towards the indicative total scheme cost of £21.742 million.  

THA and CMBC have, with the aid of the previously approved £1.4 million 
contribution from the Combined Authority, already demolished the Crib 
Lane tower blocks and Stannary depot. Significant work has been 
undertaken to identify development costs at Beech Hill and how 
efficiencies can be created. The outcome of the Housing Infrastructure 
Funding has created a gap, coupled to this the engineering solutions to 
address poor ground conditions to parts of the site mean the 
development costs are unusually high.  

Without the £797,000 contribution from the Combined Authority, the extra 
costs will both compromise the scheme and impact on the acceleration of 
other sites through the Calderdale Together Housing Investment 
Partnership (CTHIP) programme and overall housing delivery across 
Calderdale.    

Management 
Case 

Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council (CMBC) is the scheme 
promoter and is responsible for the development and project 
management of the scheme; Together Housing Association (THA) is the 
developer and will contract with ESH Construction to deliver the housing 
units. CMBC and THA have a long-established partnership and will have 
responsibilities in terms of securing the full funding package for the site.     

96



Location Map  

The following location map shows the location of the Beech Hill, Halifax scheme: eds 

 

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development, the location and scope 

of the schemes indicated here are indicative only.  

For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City 

Region please refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-

economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/  

 

97

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/leeds-city-regioninfrastructure-map/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 

Date:   
7th October 2020 

Subject:   
European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) – Sustainable 
Urban Development (SUD)  

Director: Angela Taylor, Director of Corporate Services 

Author(s): Heather Waddington 

  

Is this a key decision? ☐ Yes    ☒ No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? ☒ Yes    ☐ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or 
appendices? 

☒ Yes    ☐ No 

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government 
Act 1972, Part 1: 

Para 3 

 

1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To consider three outline applications for selection as part of the SUD ESIF 

Programme, as delegated by the Combined Authority, in its role as the 
Intermediate Body (IB). 

 
2. Information 
 
2.1 On 8 March 2017, the Investment Committee considered and noted the roles 

and responsibilities relating to Intermediate Body (IB) status delegated to West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority in order to deliver the SUD Strategy, part of the 
ESIF Programme.   

 
2.2 Since then the Combined Authority has selected a number of projects to 

progress over a number of Call rounds – Rounds 1 to 5.   
 
2.3 As funding was still available a final Round 6 call was published January 2020 

and closed 30 June 2020. The call value was for £5 million (Priority Axis 3: 
£1m Priority Axis 6: £4m). The three applications received are now presented 
to the Investment Committee for advice.  It is important to note that the level of 
demand in Priority Axis 3 and 6 significantly exceeds the resource available. 

99

Agenda Item 6



The Investment Committee will need to consider this in providing its advice to 
the IB in order to prioritise its preferred investment options.  

 
2.4 The assessment of the outline applications are attached to this report as 

Exempt Appendices 2 – 4 together with a covering note (Exempt Appendix 
1).   The Committee is requested to consider the content of the outline 
assessments and the suggested prioritised list, and provide advice with a view 
to recommending the list of prioritised projects for selection to the Combined 
Authority at its meeting on 10 November 2020. 

 
2.5  Funding pipeline is as outlined below; 
 

SUD Call Round 
PA3 (SME 
Competitiven
ess) 

PA5 (Climate 
Change - 
Flooding) 

PA6 (Green / 
Blue 

Infrastructure
) 

Total ERDF 
sought 

2017 - Round 1 £636,065     £636,065 

2018 - Round 2 £1,954,380 £3,850,454 £1,575,000 £7,379,834 

2019 - Round 3     £670,285 £670,285 

2019 - Round 4 £1,867,776   £0 £1,867,776 

2019 - Round 5 £2,100,973 £668,839   £2,769,812 

2020 – Round 6 £532,630  £6,615,520 £7,148,150 

Value of Pipeline £7,091,824 £4,519,293 £8,860,805 £20,471,922 

Total Allocation £6,360,135 £5,300,564 £6,360,135 £18,020,835 

Remaining 
allocation to 
Reserve Fund -£731,689 £781,271 -£2,500,670 -£2,451,087 

 
2.6 Any funding at this point which is not committed to the project pipeline, 

Rounds 1 to 6, will no longer be ring fenced for SUD. MHCLG is now reviewing 
the remaining investment options for utilising the remaining unallocated ERDF 
funding nationally.  

 
Selection process and the outline assessment form 
 
2.7 The selection process for SUD, part of the ESIF programme, has been set out 

in guidance notes issued to the IB by MHCLG, as the MA.  
 
2.8 The IB has assessed the outline applications for local strategic fit based on the 

Leeds City Region ESIF SUD Strategy.  In considering the strategic fit a 
qualitative approach has been used to assess the following to come to an 
overall view:  

 

100



 Does the proposed operation contribute to the needs/opportunities 
identified in the Call to which it is responding? 

 Does the proposed operation align to the local growth needs set out in the 
local ESIF (SUD) Strategy? 

 
2.9 In addition the Combined Authority as IB will take into account advice from the 

Investment Committee to support the MA’s assessment of: 
 
2.9.1 Value for money – the operation must represent value for money. In assessing 

value for money, the MA takes account of: 
 

 efficiency: the rate/unit costs at which the operation converts inputs to the 
fund outputs; 

 economy: the extent to which the operation will ensure that inputs to the 
operation are at the minimum costs commensurate with the required 
quality; 

 effectiveness: the extent to which the operation contributes to programme 
output targets, results and/or significant strategic impact at the local level; 

 that the investment will deliver activities and impacts that would not 
otherwise take place. 

 
2.9.2 Deliverability 
 

 The operation is deliverable within the requirements of the fund specific 
operational programme taking into account risks, constraints and 
dependencies. 

 Evidence has shown that this type of operation is effective, the risks have 
been considered and appropriate mitigations put in place. 

 
2.9.3 Outline assessment forms are designed and owned by MHCLG.  The 

Assessment form is split into five sections and each completed by either the IB 
or the MA as follows: 

 
• Part 1, summary project details - completed by MHCLG 
• Part 2, the gateway assessment - completed by MHCLG 
• Part 3, the IB’s assessment - completed by the Combined Authority 
• Part 4, the MA’s assessment - completed by MHCLG 
• Part 5, selection decision - completed by the Combined Authority (5a) 

and MHCLG (5b). 
 
2.10 Following the Investment Committee’s advice, the IB will finalise its 

assessment and advice to the MA and make its selection decision and forward 
the form to the MA, who will then finalise its assessment (taking account of the 
advice provided by the IB), and make its selection decision. 

 
 Undertaking the assessment 
 
2.11 In line with the agreed IB Conflict of Interest Statement and Operating Protocol 

the application has been considered by the appraisal team, under the 
responsibility of the Head of Research and Intelligence from the Combined 

101



Authority, who have undertaken their own assessment in line with the criteria 
outlined above.  Their findings are presented to the Committee at the meeting.  
In addition to officers from the appraisal team the MA will also be in 
attendance and can respond to questions raised by members regarding the 
assessment as required. 

 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 MHCLG, as MA for the funds, is responsible for the issuing of funding 

agreements, paying projects and general contract management. The funding 
within the Strategy (€19.95 million) is a notional budget and is part of the ESIF 
ERDF programme.  All finances go directly through MHCLG’s accounts not the 
Combined Authority’s. 

 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 The information contained in Appendix 1-2 is exempt under paragraph 3 of 

Part 1 to Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as it contains 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). It is considered that the 
public interest in maintaining the content of the appendices as exempt 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information as publication could 
prejudice current and future decision making. 

 
5. Staffing Implications 
 
5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. External Consultees 
 
6.1 MHCLG has been consulted in its role as Managing Authority in the production 

of this report. 
 
7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 It is recommended that the Investment Committee consider the outline 

applications and the respective prioritised project list for SUD, part of the ESIF 
Programme, and provide advice to the Combined Authority, in its role as 
Intermediate Body. 

 
8. Background Documents 
 
8.1  None. 

 
9.  Appendices 

 
9.1  Exempt Appendices 1 - 4: 
  
 Exempt Appendix 1 - Summary FINAL 

Exempt Appendix 2 – Broad Cut Farm Outline Application FINAL 

102



Exempt Appendix 3 – Slowing the Flow Outline Application FINAL 
Exempt Appendix 4 – Wortley Beck Catchment Outline Application FINAL 

 

103



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

105

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

107

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 2By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

109

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 3By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

111

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 4By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee held on 1 September
	5 Capital Spending and Project Approvals
	Item 5 - Appendix 1 - Background to assurance framework
	Item 5 - Appendix 2 - Business Case summary - TCF Huddersfield Stations Gateway
	Item 5 - Appendix 3 - Business Case summary_TCF Halifax Walking Cycling and Bus Transformation
	Item 5 - Appendix 4 - Business Case Summary - Leeds Sustainable Travel Gateway
	Item 5 - Appendix 5 - Business Case Summary - Beech Hill Halifax

	6 ESIF SUD
	Item 6 - Exempt Appendix 1
	Item 6 - Exempt Appendix 2
	Item 6- Exempt Appendix 3
	Item 6- Exempt Appendix 4


